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“At IHCL, we have always 
set benchmarks in service 
quality and our global 
portfolio demands that 
we continuously reinvent 
ourselves for the future to 
check in. We are driving 
this transformation with 
a five-year growth map 
– Aspiration 2022 – that 
provides a template for 
us to grow profitably and 
sustainably.”

Read more on Page 24

Puneet Chhatwal

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer
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The future checks in at IHCL

Over the past few years, the hospitality industry has evolved 
remarkably due to digitisation and various acquisitions 
and mergers. Today, the industry’s focus is on fulfilling the 
increasing demands of its customers. Whether it be a business 
or a leisure traveller, the expectations go way beyond just 
a comfortable stay. They are looking for an unforgettable 
experience. At The Indian Hotels Company Limited (IHCL), we 
are very excited about our prospects as we consolidate our 
position to welcome the traveller of tomorrow.

With the spirit of Tajness, which stands on the values of Trust, 
Awareness and Joy (TAJ), we continue to create an intuitive 
connect with all our stakeholders. It is the soul and guiding 
force for all our actions and performances. It steers our 
culture, thinking and leadership and is the foundation of our 
vision, mission and values.

Introduction



In a renewed spirit of purpose and 

discovery, we have unveiled Aspiration 

2022, a comprehensive business strategy 

that focusses on maximising stakeholder 

value over the next five years. The strategy 

aims to build on our legacy and further 

strengthen our position by operating the 

best-in-class portfolio of brands in India 

and select overseas destinations. Based on 

a three-pronged approach — Re-structure, 

Re-engineer and Re-imagine — the focus 

will be on deepening guest experience, 

strengthening market leadership and 

achieving transformative growth, leading to 

greater profitability and market leadership 

in each of our segments.
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IHCL is South Asia’s largest and finest 
Indian hospitality companies founded 
by the legendary Jamsetji Tata in 1899. 
It opened its first property – now called 
The Taj Mahal Palace – in Mumbai in 
1903. The Company and its subsidiaries 
bring together a group of brands and 
businesses that offer a fusion of warm 
Indian hospitality and world-class 
service.

With a legacy of over 115 years, IHCL has built a reputation 

of unrivalled leadership in the Indian hospitality industry. The 

Company has been a pioneer in transforming cities and towns 

into holiday destinations and has created history by putting 

Goa, Kerala, Rajasthan and the Andamans as leisure hotspots 

on the world map.

IHCL operates with the distinct advantage of having the largest 

system-wide revenue. It is one of the leading networks of 

properties that span classic landmark hotels, historic palaces 

and the highest number of leisure hotels. The Company also 

has a strong portfolio of resorts and safaris, along with other 

business offerings catering to various customer and business 

segments across four continents and 12 countries.

OUR PURPOSE 

To create value by operating 
the best-in-class portfolio 
of hospitality brands in 
India and select overseas 
destinations

4  

Indian hospitality at its global best

IHCL at a Glance
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165+
HOTELS*

115
Y E A R S  L E GAC Y

80 
LOCATIONS

12 
COUNTRIES

4 
CONTINENTS

20,000+ 
ROOMS*

74 
SPAS

7th 
CONSECUTIVE 

GALLUP GREAT 

WORKPLACE AWARD

32,242 
EMPLOYEES

380 
RESTAURANTS 

AND BARS

67
HOTELS AWARDED 

WITH GOLD 

CERTIFICATION BY 

EARTHCHECK

5  

*INCLUDES HOTELS UNDER DEVELOPMENT 



What defines our thinking, 
actions and relationships

Our Values
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Note: Map not to scale

30% 40%
CONSUMER LOYALTY 

REVENUE (%)

MEMBER BASE

HIGH CUSTOMER-CENTRICITY

10 1020
NEW HOTELS 

OPENED

NEW HOTELS IN 

THE PIPELINE

CONTRACTS SIGNED 

IN THE 12 MONTHS TILL 

MAY 31, 2018

ROBUST EXPANSION DURING FY 2017-18

Welcoming guests  
around the world

Our Presence

> India 

> Sri Lanka

> Nepal

> Malaysia

> Bhutan

> Andamans

> Maldives

>  South Africa

>  Zambia

> UAE

> United Kingdom

> USA
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9  

64%
AVERAGE  

OCCUPANCY*

30.56 Lakhs 
TOTAL GUESTS WELCOMED 

DURING THE YEAR*

5,530 8,634
REVENUE PER 

AVAILABLE ROOM*  

(IN J)

AVERAGE ROOM 

RATE* (IN J)

*DATA FOR TAJ AND GINGER BRANDS ONLY

“For TCI, IHCL is the biggest 
global partner because of 
its unique geographical 
footprint, combined with 
predictable, high-quality 
service. The Taj epitomises 
Indian hospitality through 
its excellent service. We’re 
glad to partner with an 
Indian industry major who 
virtually sets the standard 
for service excellence in 
the international hospitality 
industry today.”

Dipak Deva

Managing Director,  

Travel Corporation India
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Timeline

A history of milestones 

1899
THE INDIAN HOTELS 

COMPANY LIMITED (IHCL) IS 

INCORPORATED

1903
LAUNCHES THE TAJ MAHAL 

PALACE IN MUMBAI, INDIA

1970
TAKES OVER MANAGEMENT 

OF TAJ LAKE PALACE, 

UDAIPUR AND RAMBAGH 

PALACE, JAIPUR

1974
LAUNCHES FORT AGUADA, 

THE FIRST FIVE-STAR 

DELUXE BEACH RESORT 

IN GOA

LAUNCHES TAJ 

COROMANDEL IN CHENNAI

1979
FORAYS INTO AFRICA 

WITH TAJ PAMODZI, 

LUSAKA, ZAMBIA 

2000
ESTABLISHES TAJ GVK 

HOTELS AND RESORTS 

LIMITED IN HYDERABAD

2004
LAUNCHES TAJ 

WELLINGTON MEWS LUXURY 

RESIDENCES, MUMBAI 

2001
LAUNCHES TAJ EXOTICA 

RESORT AND SPA IN 

MALDIVES 

10  

1998
OPENS TAJ EXOTICA IN 

BENTOTA, SRI LANKA 

1982
ACQUIRES THE ST. JAMES’ 

COURT IN LONDON

THE TAJ PALACE, NEW DELHI, 

IS OPENED FOR THE ASIAN 

GAMES



2005
FORAYS INTO NEW YORK, 

US, WITH A MANAGEMENT 

CONTRACT TO OPERATE THE 

PIERRE 

RESTORES UMAID BHAWAN 

PALACE IN JODHPUR

2012
LAUNCHES A FREE TWO-

YEAR HOSPITALITY TRADE 

TRAINING PROGRAMME 

FOR YOUTH FROM BELOW 

POVERTY LINE (BPL) 

FAMILIES

2007
ACQUIRES RITZ-CARLTON 

IN BOSTON, US, LATER 

RENAMED THE TAJ BOSTON

LAUNCHES TAJ CAMPTON 

PLACE IN SAN FRANCISCO

2014
REBRANDS AND REPOSITIONS 

TAJ 51 BUCKINGHAM GATE 

SUITES & RESIDENCES AND  

ST. JAMES’ COURT, A TAJ 

HOTEL, LONDON UNDER THE 

LUXURY BRAND

2015
REDESIGNS THE  

AWARD-WINNING PROGRAMME, 

TAJ INNERCIRCLE ANNOUNCES 

THE OPENING OF TAJ DUBAI, 

UNVEILS ‘TAJNESS’

2017
IHCL RESTRUCTURES  

IT'S BRAND ARCHITECTURE

2018
UNVEILS ‘ASPIRATION 2022’

TAJ EXOTICA RESORT & SPA, ANDAMANS, 

A LUXURY RESORT OFFERING, COMMENCES 

OPERATIONS IN FEBRUARY 

11  
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2008
LAUNCHES THE GATEWAY 

HOTELS AND RESORTS

SOUTH-WEST COASTAL 

INDIAN RESTAURANT QUILON 

IN LONDON RECEIVES A 

MICHELIN-STAR

2010
LAUNCHES A NEW BRAND, 

VIVANTA BY TAJ

CELEBRATES THE REOPENING 

OF THE TAJ MAHAL PALACE IN 

MUMBAI AFTER THE TERRORIST 

ATTACKS OF 2008
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HOTELS

Hotels | Resorts Hotels | Resorts
Hotels | Palaces | 

Resorts | Safaris

Number of hotels

46
Number of rooms

6,945
Locations
Cities and resort destinations, safari 
locations and authentic palaces

Brand style
Iconic

Target audience
Luxury world traveller

Nature of arrangements
Owned, leased and  
management contracts

Number of hotels

27
Number of rooms

4,041
Locations
Cities and resort destinations

Brand style
Bon Vivant

Target audience
Cosmopolitan traveller

Nature of arrangements
Owned, leased and management 
contracts

Number of hotels

27
Number of rooms

2,396
Locations
Cities and resort destinations

Brand style
Warm and Welcoming 

Target audience
Business and leisure traveller

Nature of arrangements
Owned, leased and management 
contracts

The IHCL Portfolio

A bouquet of brands that deliver 
memorable experiences
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B2B

Air cateringHotels

Number of hotels

42
Number of rooms

3,763
Locations
Cities across India

Brand style
Smart

Target audience
Millennial/City hopper

Nature of arrangements
Owned and managed contracts

Number of units 

6
Services offered
> In-flight catering
> Airline lounge management
> Laundry
> Airline bonds

Locations
Cities across India

Non-airline services
> Institutional catering
> Outdoor catering
> Corporate gifting

Brand style
Efficiency and Scale

Target audience
Institutions

Nature of arrangements
Joint venture

“TajSATS, our joint venture with IHCL, has grown to become the market leader in 
Indian airline catering because both companies share the same values of integrity, 
care for employees and customer focus. SATS will continue to invest in India to 
position TajSATS as an undisputed market leader in Indian catering.”

Alex Hungate

President and CEO, SATS
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SERVICE RETAIL PRODUCTS

Number of boutiques

12
Locations

7
Brand style
Indian luxury 

Target audience
Global traveller

Nature of arrangements
Multi-product retail outlet

Number of spas

43
Brand style
Ancient Indian Wellness

Target audience
Wellness seekers

Nature of arrangements
Owned

Number of salons

34 
Brand style
Beauty with Care 

Target audience
Discerning luxury

Nature of arrangements
Owned

The IHCL Portfolio

BeautyWellnessLifestyle 
boutique

SALON
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FOOD & BEVERAGE CORPORATE PRODUCTS LOYALTY PROGRAMMES

IHCL has some of the most distinguished 

fine-dining and multi-cuisine restaurants 

and lounge bars in its portfolio. With more 

than 380 restaurants and bars around the 

world, it offers a multitude of speciality 

cuisines flavoured with tradition and 

innovation through its signature brands 

such as Bombay Brasserie, Golden 

Dragon, Wasabi, Thai Pavilion and  

House of Ming. 

Taj InnerCircle
Taj InnerCircle is an award-winning 

loyalty programme designed to offer our 

guests a gamut of unparalleled services 

and experiences through 84 domestic 

and 16 international hotels at iconic 

destinations. The Taj InnerCircle won 

the coveted 210 Award at the Freddie 

Awards in Seattle, US. The Freddie 

Awards is one of the most recognised and 

prominent awards for frequent traveller 

programmes.

Warmer Welcomes
Warmer Welcomes is a loyalty 

partnership programme offering 

members of Shangri-La’s Golden Circle 

and Taj InnerCircle reciprocal benefits. It 

also allows them to earn their preferred 

loyalty currency. Introduced a year ago, 

the programme was awarded ‘Best 

Loyalty Partnership’ at Flightglobal’s  

10th Loyalty Awards event. 

Taj Holidays 
Taj Holidays offers a wide selection of 

distinct holiday packages to guests with 

unique holiday requirements.

Taj Wedding Studio
Taj Wedding Studio is a platform 

connecting wedding planners and brides/

grooms to make their dream weddings a 

timeless memory. From opulent venues 

to customised cuisines, ambience and 

services, Taj Wedding Studio promises to 

offer an experience of a lifetime.

Taj Experiences Gift Card
Taj Experiences Gift Cards are innovative 

prepaid cards, redeemable against 

all spends – accommodation, holiday 

packages, dining, spa, etc., including taxes 

across Taj, Vivanta and Gateway hotels in 

India.

“Taj Hotels, Resorts and Safaris is a pioneer in Indian hospitality. The common 
business ethics and values of both companies have given us the framework to 
become preferred partners over the years. We value the Indian feel Taj gives to its 
service, combined with its strong set of Standard Operating Procedures.”

Mario Habig

Managing Director, Le Passage to India
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Highlights of FY 2017-18

Portfolio expansion
> Opened 10 hotels (697 keys) ), of which:

• One Taj property is in the Andamans 

• Nine Ginger hotels are in some of 

India’s key cities such as Mumbai, 

Gurgaon, Lucknow, Ahmedabad, 

Vadodara, Aurangabad and Goa

> Signed five new hotels across brands 

– a Taj hotel in Vikhroli, Mumbai, a 

Vivanta in Bhopal and three Ginger 

hotels in Lucknow, Vadodara and Goa

> Renewed existing contracts of New 

York, Langkawi and Surat properties

Marketing initiatives
Our marketing initiatives this year 

were designed to drive demand growth 

while regaining market leadership 

across product categories and enhancing 

our reach.

Repositioning campaigns

We repositioned major properties across 

Kerala and Goa to re-establish them as 

market leaders and to drive traffic into 

these hotels. 

Results achieved in Kerala

> 356% y-o-y increase in overall traffic

> 8.9 Million unique reach with 45% view 

rate

> 33% overall relative brand lift

> 369 overall bookings with a revenue of 

`1.28 Crores

Results achieved in Goa

> 120% y-o-y increase in overall traffic 

> 2.2 Million+ Video Views 

> Top 20 percentile Ad Recall

> 16% y-o-y increase in Search revenue

Taj Holidays

By offering a wide selection of distinct 

holiday options and meeting the unique 

requirements of customers across 

segments, this year, we promoted resort 

destinations to enhance our domestic 

business through offline and online 

mediums.

Taj Safaris

The Taj Safaris website was revamped to 

drive enhanced traffic while improving 

discovery and navigability. This approach 

was undertaken to improve cost-effective 

customer acquisition conversions across 

all channels.

A NEW FEATHER IN OUR HAT 

The iconic Taj Mahal Palace hotel in 

Mumbai acquired an 'image trademark', 

making it the first building in India to get 

Intellectual Property rights protection for 

its architectural design.



50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

17  

Partnership Marketing

Leveraging our airline partners – Tata SIA 

Airlines (Vistara) in India and frequent 

flyer partners in North America, Asia 

Pacific, Europe, Middle East and Africa 

– we enhanced direct bookings from 

international travellers, driving double-

digit ROI growth. We also partnered with 

leading networks, including American 

Express®, Mastercard and Visa, as well as 

banks to promote direct bookings, drive 

loyalty and enhance spends. 

Corporate events
First-ever Annual Business  

Conference organised

The first-ever Annual Business 

Conference was organised, extending the 

One IHCL philosophy across the Company. 

It was attended by our leadership team, 

senior management, key decision 

makers, partners, owners, celebrities 

and dignitaries from across industries, 

highlighting the vision and growth 

strategy of IHCL.

Announcement of Aspiration 

2022 at Capital Markets Day 

IHCL’s five-year strategy, Aspiration 2022, 

was launched at the Company’s first 

Capital Markets Day. It was organised to 

announce the future roadmap and to build 

a culture of inclusion and collaboration. 

The event was globally webcast to all our 

employees. 

Diversity - Equal opportunities

Committed to promoting equal 

opportunities for our women workforce, 

we introduced two new programmes: 

Referral programme

We launched an incentive-based referral 

programme. It entails a 30-50% higher 

referral amount to employees in case 

their selected reference is a woman.

Hospitalisation assistance policy

We introduced a new policy for women 

employees who are facing difficulty 

in starting a family. The policy covers 

medical expenses, including various 

medical procedures such as IVF 

treatments; freezing of egg, embryo and 

sperm and artificial insemination.

“Taj has been our valuable 
partner as we work to build 
a world-class airline. Since 
our launch, we, along with 
Taj, have introduced various 
dining, spa services and 
room booking offerings that 
extend across leisure and 
business hotels. We are 
currently working together 
with Taj as part of the ‘One 
Tata’ initiative towards 
deepening our long-term 
strategic partnership.”

Leslie Thng

CEO, Vistara Airlines



Annual Report 2017-18

Key Performance Indicators

Delivering a robust performance

Financial metrics

STANDALONE
REVENUE (K CRORES)

2,639.34
2,639.34 2018

2,459.58  2017

2,374.12 2016

2,103.60 2015

2014 1,977.33 

EBITDA MARGIN (%)

26%
262018

232017

222016

212015

2014 22

EBITDA (K CRORES)

684.19
684.192018

577.702017

528.582016

437.892015

2014 437.28

EPS – BASIC AND DILUTED (K) 

1.34
1.342018

1.372017

0.852016

(1.02)2015

2014 (7.31)

PAT (K CRORES)

147.77
147.772018

143.182017

84.152016

(82.02)2015

2014 (590.49)

18  

Non-Financial metrics
> 3.2 billion litres  

of water saved 

through water 

recycling and 

rainwater 

harvesting

> 58,580 tonnes 

of CO
2
 emissions 

avoided by 

switching to 

renewable energy

> 5,329 tonnes 

of waste 

diverted from 

landfills through 

composting

> 79 hotels 

certified under 

the EarthCheck 

certification 

partnership

> ` 5.27 crores spent 

on Corporate Social 

Responsibility CSR)

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (%)

10%
102018

92017

82016

62015

2014 6



Notes:

*Financials for 2017-18, 2016-17 and 2015-16 are as per IND AS

^Financials for 2015-16, 2014-15 and 2013-14 are as per IGAAP

CONSOLIDATED 
EBITDA MARGIN (%)

18%
182018

162017

162016

142015

2014 15

EBITDA (K CRORES)

732.08
732.082018

664.562017

651.922016

587.292015

2014 619.32

REVENUE (K CRORES)

4,165.28
4,165.282018

4,075.512017

4,122.782016

4,287.362015

2014 4,125.94

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (%)

6%
62018

52017

52016

42015

2014 4

EPS – BASIC AND DILUTED (K)

0.91
0.912018

(0.60)2017

(2.34)2016

(4.68)2015

2014 (6.86)

PAT (K CRORES)

100.87
100.872018

(63.20)2017

(231.08)2016

(378.10)2015

2014 (553.85)

19  
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N. Chandrasekaran
Chairman

Deepak Parekh 
Non-executive  
Independent Director

Nadir Godrej
Non-executive  
Independent Director

Puneet Chhatwal
Managing Director &  
Chief Executive Officer  
(Appointed w.e.f. 6 November 2017)

Committees

Nomination and Remuneration

Audit Committee

Risk Committee 

Stakeholders Relationship

Corporate Social Responsibility  
and Sustainability Committee

C Chairman  M Member

1

C CC

M MM 3

42

M

M

MC

C

5

3
6

4

Board of Directors
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Ireena Vittal 
Non-executive 
Independent Director

Gautam Banerjee 
Non-executive 
Independent Director

Vibha Paul Rishi 
Non-executive 
Independent Director

Mehernosh S. Kapadia
Executive Director – Corporate Affairs 
(Retired w.e.f. 23 May 2018)

MM5 7

86

M M

1
2

7

8

50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements



Annual Report 2017-1822  

1  Puneet Chhatwal

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chhatwal brings over three decades 

of leadership experience at highly-

acclaimed hotel groups in Europe and 

North America. He joined IHCL in 2017 

and spearheads the Company operations 

as its MD and CEO. He has won numerous 

awards, including the prestigious Carlson 

Fellowship, and was rated as one of 

Europe’s 20 extraordinary minds in Sales, 

Marketing and Technology – HSMAI 

European Awards 2014. He was also the 

first alumni to be included in the ESSEC-

IMHI Hall of Honour 2014.

2  Mehernosh S. Kapadia 

Executive Director – Corporate Affairs

Mr. Kapadia has over 31 years of 

experience in Corporate Affairs and 

specialises in handling issues related to 

the Central and State Governments and 

Municipal Authorities. He is the Chairman 

of Taj Air Ltd. and holds Directorships 

in TajSATS Air Catering Limited, Tata 

Realty & Infrastructure Limited and Ewart 

Investments Limited.

3  Suma Venkatesh

Executive Vice President – Real Estate & 

Development

Ms. Venkatesh heads the Company’s 

Development, Technical Services and 

Projects functions. She oversees IHCL’s 

initiatives for growth through greenfield 

developments, acquisitions, licenses and 

management contracts. Over the last 15 

years with IHCL, she has been involved 

in doubling the Group’s inventory to 141 

hotels with 17,300+ keys. Ms. Venkatesh 

is an Electrical Engineer by training and 

holds a master’s degree in Management 

Studies from the Mumbai University in 

India. She has over 25 years of cross-

functional experience across industries. 

Before joining IHCL, she worked in 

different functions across multiple 

industry sectors in India.

4   Rohit Khosla 

Executive Vice President – Operations (North and 

West India)

A post-graduate in hotel management 

from the Institute of Hotel Management, 

Mumbai, Mr. Khosla joined IHCL in 1999 as 

Executive Assistant Manager, Taj Palace, 

New Delhi and has held several positions 

within the Group. Currently, he oversees 

hotel operations in the northern, eastern 

and western states of India, along with Taj 

Tashi, Bhutan and operations of Taj Safaris 

Wilderness Lodges. He has won numerous 

awards, including the Young Hotel General 

Manager in 2006 by Federation of Hotel & 

Restaurant Associations of India (FH&RA) 

and the General Manager of the Year in 

2006 at Stars of the Industry Awards by 

ITM Institute of Hotel Management & DNA. 

He is currently an Executive Committee 

member of the Hotel Association of India 

and SKAL. He is also on the CII National 

Tourism Committee.

5  Rajendra Misra

Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Mr. Misra has over 26 years of business 

legal experience and is an expert in 

Litigation Management, Intellectual 

Property Management, Contracts 

Management and Competition and 

Corporate Law. His experience spans 

across many industries, including 

Hospitality, Personal Care, Home Care, 

Tobacco, Food, Lifestyle Retailing, 

Aluminium and Tyre businesses.  

Mr. Misra is also a Director on the Board 

of TajGVK Hotels & Resorts Ltd., which is 

a joint venture between IHCL and the GVK 

group. He holds a Bachelor of Legislative 

Law degree (L.L.B.) and a Post-Graduate 

Diploma in Patents Law (PGDPL). He has 

also undertaken the Hawkesmere Course 

on International Intellectual Property Law 

from London. He was the Chairman of 

the legal committee of Indian Beauty & 

Hygiene Association (IBHA) and has led 

several legal initiatives on behalf of the 

industry.

1 2 3 4 5

Senior Management

The pillars of IHCL
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6  Dr. P. V. Ramana Murthy 

Executive Vice President and Global Head – 

Human Resources

Dr. Murthy brings over 28 years of rich 

experience in the field of human resource 

management from both Indian and 

multinational organisations. He holds 

a Ph.D. in Strategic Human Resource 

Management and an Executive Master’s 

degree in Organisational Psychology from 

INSEAD, Singapore. He has also attended 

an advanced Human Resource Executive 

programme from Michigan Ross 

School of Business in 2009. Dr. Murthy 

believes in scientific human resource 

practices and has been specialising in 

Talent Management, Leadership and 

Organisational Culture. 

7  Giridhar Sanjeevi

Executive Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Sanjeevi has built a broad-based 

career over 30 years across multiple 

businesses – consumer businesses, 

financial services, retail and pharma – in 

Asia and Europe. A Chartered Accountant 

and an MBA from IIM Ahmedabad, he has 

won several awards, including the Most 

Influential CFOs of India award from CIMA 

in 2015 and 2016 and CFO of the Year 

for Excellence in Finance in Managing a 

Turnaround from IMA, 2013.

8  Chinmai Sharma 

Executive Vice President and Chief Revenue 

Officer

As Executive Vice President and 

Chief Revenue Officer for Taj Hotels 

Palaces Resorts Safaris, Mr. Sharma’s 

responsibilities include Global Sales, 

Marketing, Loyalty, Customer Analytics, 

Digital Platforms, Distribution and 

Revenue Management. He is a seasoned 

industry professional with more than 

two decades of progressive hospitality 

experience in the fields of Revenue 

Management, Strategic Marketing and 

Electronic Distribution. In 2015,  

Mr. Sharma was named as one of the 

'Top 20 Extraordinary Minds in Sales, 

Marketing and Technology' by HSMAI 

Europe.

9  Prabhat Verma

Executive Vice President – Operations  

(South, International & Ancillary Business)

Mr. Verma joined IHCL in 1990 as a 

Management Trainee and has since 

grown to become the Executive Vice 

President – Operations (South India, 

International and Ancillary Businesses). 

He has worked at various Taj properties 

and has been the General Manager of 

hotels including Taj Malabar, Cochin; Taj 

Coromandel, Chennai and the Taj Hotels, 

London. Mr. Verma has also held the 

portfolio of Chief Operating Officer of 

The Gateway Hotels of IHCL and Senior 

Vice President Operations for the South 

Region prior to his present role. He is the 

recipient of ‘Young General Manager’ of 

the Year 5-Star Deluxe category by FHRAI 

in 2005 and the ‘International Cooperation 

Award between the UK and India’ in 2012 

by Asian Voice for his skills and expertise.

10  Beejal Desai 

Senior. Vice President – Legal and Company 

Secretary

Mr. Desai is Senior Vice President – 

Legal & Company Secretary and Chief 

Compliance Officer of IHCL. He holds an 

L.L.B degree from Mumbai University 

and is a Fellow Member of the Institute 

of the Company Secretaries of India. He 

has previously worked across various 

leadership positions with different 

organisations and has over  

32 years of cross-functional experience 

in the areas of Legal, Secretarial, 

Compliance and Investor Relations. He 

also closely liaises with SEBI, RBI and 

various regulatory authorities. He has 

pioneered digitalisation of various legal 

and compliance projects within the 

organisation and won several awards.

6 7 8 9 10
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MD and CEO's Message

Streamlined growth with 
a future-focussed vision

Dear Shareholders,

I am happy to present to you the Annual 

Report of The Indian Hotels Company 

Limited (IHCL) in a year we have done 

well and my first as its Managing Director 

and Chief Executive Officer. It is also the 

year the Tata group is celebrating its 

150th anniversary, an illustrious history in 

which we have played a significant role 

with a 115-year presence ourselves.

The global travel and tourism industry 

posted a strong showing in the financial 

year, growing at 4.6%, with particularly 

good performance in Asia. This had a 

positive ripple effect on the hospitality 

sector in India, which had been struggling 

with declining room occupancy and 

pricing. The fiscal saw demand growth 

at 5.0%, continuing to outpace supply 

growth at 3.2%, primarily due to the rising 

purchasing power of domestic travellers, 

an increase in commercial development 

and foreign tourist arrivals, a growing 

airline industry and Government-led 

initiatives aimed at stimulating the sector. 

These include branding and marketing 

outreach and allowing 100% FDI in the 

hotel and tourism sector through the 

automatic route.

During the year, we registered strong 

profitability even as revenues grew at 

a moderate pace. Our continued efforts 

to drive cost efficiencies and strengthen 

our balance sheet have already started 

yielding results. 

Puneet Chhatwal 

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
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Customers across the world now expect 

hospitality to adapt to their evolving 

needs and partner them through their 

professional and personal journeys. At 

IHCL, we have always set benchmarks in 

service quality and our global portfolio 

demands that we continuously reinvent 

ourselves for the future to check in. We 

are driving this transformation with a 

five-year growth map – Aspiration 2022 

– that provides a template for us to grow 

profitably and sustainably. 

Aspiration 2022 will lead us to  

re-structure our operations and  

re-engineer processes in a larger effort 

to re-imagine our engagement with all 

stakeholders. Re-structuring entails a 

continuous and careful re-examination 

of your Company’s existing portfolio to 

unlock value from efficiencies in scale 

and simplify the holding structure for 

greater profitability and a growth in 

EBITDA margins. IHCL will also be at 

the forefront of change in the hospitality 

industry as it re-engineers systems and 

processes and embraces technology.

Your Company is re-imagining itself 

by leveraging its strong brand equity 

to multiply its portfolio while aligning 

to high-growth segments. This 

includes manoeuvring excellence and 

reinvigorating the portfolio across all 

brands. While the iconic Taj and Vivanta 

will be retained as the dominant brands 

in the luxury, upper upscale and upscale 

segments, Ginger will have a significant 

presence in the IHCL brandscape. It will 

address your Company’s drive to be 

present in the fastest growing segment. 

The brand will take on a fresh avatar to 

address the needs and aspirations of the 

new and younger customer segments.   

Integral to your Company’s strategy of 

reinforcing the multi-product, multi-

segment brandscape is our customer. 

The service ethos, epitomised in what 

we call Tajness, is the soul of IHCL. With 

competition becoming stiffer, there is a 

stronger case than ever to communicate 

the merits of Tajness as a key 

differentiator. Hence, we have redefined 

Tajness – as Trust, Awareness and Joy –  

the trust that our guests, associates and 

stakeholders place in us; the awareness 

of what is happening around us and what 

we need to do as responsible members 

of the Indian hotel industry, and to do 

something effectively, we must enjoy 

what we do; we must do it joyfully. 

IHCL is a multi-faceted global Company. 

Our strategy for the future hinges on 

diversifying our revenue streams and 

utilising our products and service 

brands more effectively, which is why 

we are reimagining IHCL’s own brand 

positioning. One that emphasises it is 

the largest hospitality Company in the 

subcontinent with true Indian origins and 

that allows it to go beyond the current 

offerings, ranging from luxury palaces 

to budget hotels and other B2B verticals 

like TajSATS. Based on the philosophy 

of Power of One, your Company has 

launched ‘One IHCL’ to create an identity 

that unites its brands and businesses. This 

new identity will help unlock the equity 

of ‘nestled’ brands such as Khazana, Jiva 

and F&B brands, among others. Moreover, 

your Company can create new business 

drivers such as shared economy models 

to transcend traditional businesses. This 

will fuel growth by attracting partners and 

talent for IHCL as a group rather than as 

Taj alone.

We have inculcated our parent Tata 

group’s culture of growing responsibly 

and believe environmental stewardship 

is a precondition for our operations. 

We are pursuing excellence in facility 

management systems and procuring 

local and sustainable materials 

remains our priority. We support the 

Skill India movement that focusses on 

delivering quality training, apart from 

leveraging our supply chain to enable 

livelihood opportunities for surrounding 

communities. Heritage conservation 

and community upkeep projects run by 

our hotels continue to contribute to the 

prosperity of the destinations in which we 

operate.

Before closing, I want to extend my 

heartfelt gratitude to all the employees 

of IHCL who dedicate their best to the 

organisation – empowering it to conquer 

new horizons. 

I count on your continued support as 

we aspire to drive profitable growth and 

maximise value for all our stakeholders in 

a sustainable manner. 

Best Regards,

Puneet Chhatwal

“Your Company is reimagining itself by leveraging its strong 
brand equity to multiply its portfolio while aligning to high-
growth segments. This includes manoeuvring excellence and 
reinvigorating the portfolio across all brands.”
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Our pivotal programme, Aspiration 2022, is based on the 
three-pronged strategy of re-structuring, re-engineering and 
re-imagining the Company’s portfolio. The strategy is aimed 
at margin enhancement and growth to fulfil our aspiration of 
becoming the most iconic and profitable hospitality company in 
South Asia. Therefore, it will focus on exploring new markets, 
expanding existing properties, monetising non-core assets, 
optimising costs and simplifying the group structure to grow 
the bottom line. The five-year programme will also include 
leveraging the digital channel to strengthen the brand and 
generate more revenue.

ASPIRATION 2022

26  
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ASPIRATION 2022

INITIATIVES

ENABLERS

VALUES

ICONIC AND 
PROFITABLE 
HOSPITALITY 

COMPANY

RE-ENGINEER  
MARGINS, TECHNOLOGY, 

PEOPLE

CULTURE

RE-STRUCTURE  
SCALE, SIMPLIFY, SELL

STRONG BRAND 
EQUITY

PAN-INDIA FOOTPRINT

TRUST, AWARENESS, JOY INTEGRITY, EXCELLENCE, UNITY, 
RESPONSIBILITY, PIONEERING

RE-IMAGINE  
SERVICE, BRANDSCAPE, 

PORTFOLIO

HIGH CUSTOMER 
ENGAGEMENT

MARKET LEADERS IN THE LEISURE  
& PALACES SEGMENT
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RE-ENGINEER
We are embracing technology to 

deliver greater performance to our 

valued guests and patrons, along 

with building a robust system-

oriented culture at IHCL to drive 

margin expansion. 

RE-ENGINEER
We are embracing technology to 

deliver greater performance to our 

l d t d t l

RE-STRUCTURE
We are restructuring our 

existing portfolio to unlock value 

from efficiencies in scale and 

simplifying the holding structure 

for greater profitability. 

3R Strategy for Aspiration 2022



50-121 122-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

29  

Expressed through the 3Cs

CULTURE. COMMERCE. CONNECTEDNESS.
 

Underpinned by our values

Taj values

TRUST. AWARENESS. JOY.

Tata values

INTEGRITY. EXCELLENCE. UNITY. 
RESPONSIBILITY. PIONEERING.

RE-IMAGINE
We are leveraging our strengths 

and strong brand equity to 

multiply our portfolio across 

business segments to achieve 

growth and scalability. 

RE-IMAGINE
We are leveraging our strengths

and strong brand equity to



RE-STRUCTURE SELLSIMPLIFYSCALE

Drivers of Aspiration 2022

SELLSIMPLIFYSCALE
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How we will scale
India is growing at a tremendous pace and is 

expected to become a $6 trillion economy in ten 

years. The travel and tourism industry in India is one 

of the biggest contributors to India’s GDP and hence 

is critical in supporting the Indian growth story. In 

2017, the industry’s share was 3.7% and is expected 

to increase by 7.6% in 2018-19. We are leveraging 

this immense potential for growth to increase scale 

and strengthen our business. Our plan for the next 

five years is to grow inventory across multi-product, 

multi-segment categories to meet the growing 

demands of the discerning traveller. Our marketing 

strategy will involve selection of strategic locations 

for developing establishments, including central 

business districts, airports and leisure and luxury 

places to help upgrade our value proposition. We 

will also invest in expanding our land area across 

geographies and explore strategic merger-and-

acquisition opportunities without indulging in  

non-source international markets.

How we will simplify
We believe in simplifying processes for seamless and 

integrated business functioning. We will continue to 

make things simpler by restructuring the Group’s 

holding structure to create a consolidated turnover 

and for balance sheet optimisation. By implementing 

the restructuring process, the redundant 

organisational layers and duplicated activities would 

be removed, decision making would be streamlined 

and performance management would be redesigned.

What we will sell
We will undertake periodic reviews to extend the 

tenure of good-performing hotels and exit those that 

are suffering losses and are not showing any future 

potential. Disposing assets that are no longer useful 

to our operations will, thus, help us in building a 

profitable business.

While IHCL is a market leader 
in the luxury and palaces 
segment, the focus ahead will 
be to align brands to dominate 
high-growth segments. The 
plan is to reduce dependency 
on ownership and expand 
across the business.

The need to re-structure our 
operations is bigger than ever today. 
We have identified a 3S approach 
of Scale, Simplify and Sell to unlock 
value from our existing efficiencies 
and build a portfolio that addresses 
the fast-changing needs of the global 
traveller.
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Drivers of Aspiration 2022

RE-ENGINEER MARGINS PEOPLETECHNOLOGYMARGINS PEOPLETECHNOLOGY
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What we will expand
Over the next five years, we will expand margins to 

create a culture of operational excellence. WIN, a 

special project that focusses on enhancing margins 

and profitability, was launched to further our efforts 

of improving EBITDA and re-engineering costs. 

The strategy includes restructuring procurements, 

saving costs on energy, optimising the organisational 

structure and synergising global shared services, 

along with reducing overhead expenses. 

Key enablers of our margin enhancement initiative 

> Dedicated team effort and ownership

> Cross-organisation alignment

> Extensive performance tracking

> Optimisation of operations

What we will embrace
We are embracing technology to digitise our 

processes. Data analytics will help us capture 

customer preferences to deliver personalised 

services to our valued patrons. The process is being 

managed by a strong technical team for creating a 

measurable impact and making us future-ready.

Who we will engage
To build a robust performance-oriented culture at 

IHCL, we will engage our workforce in creating a 

strong talent pipeline that will be trained to deliver 

with a result-oriented outlook. We are developing 

process enablers and a robust review mechanism 

to ensure consistency in the delivery of standards of 

service. 

Re-engineering will focus 
on leveraging the legacy of 
strong relationships we have 
built over the years with our 
partners and associates. As 
we work towards increasing 
our topline, we will expand 
our sales reach and integrate 
digital marketing, while 
utilising the brand strength  
of Taj. 

To broaden our appeal to the younger 
travellers, we are re-engineering our 
internal systems and processes. This 
would also provide an enriching career 
path to our workforce. We are adopting 
technology to build an organisation 
that is strong on margins and customer 
know-how and follows a performance-
oriented work culture. A 3E approach of 
Expand, Embrace and Engage has been 
undertaken to enable re-engineering.



Drivers of Aspiration 2022

RE-IMAGINE SERVICE PORTFOLIOBRANDSCAPEERVICESE PORTFOLIOBRANDSCAPE
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Over the next five years, we will optimise revenues and stay commercially 
focussed. To do this, we have to re-imagine our strengths and brand equity 
to grow our portfolio, while staying relevant in the high-growth segments. 
We will expand our presence across the growing midscale and economy 
categories, reaching out to guests of every profile. To deploy the third 
strategy of Aspiration 2022, we have devised a 3M approach –  
Manoeuvre, Manage and Multiply. 

What we will manoeuvre
We have, over the years, reinvented traditions and 

integrated local flavours to offer a new-age, yet 

grounded experience to our guests. This has been 

the core of our service across brands and we need 

to further manoeuvre this excellence to re-imagine a 

new IHCL. To build new products that are better than 

yesterday, we will scale our service offerings and set 

new performance benchmarks. We are also committed 

to recreating our brandscape to address the needs and 

aspirations of the new and younger customers.

What we will multiply
To expand our reach, we are focussed on growing the product portfolio while also expanding margins. This will be done 

under each category on a yearly basis to reach our desired target audience. Our business model includes multiple owned, 

leased and franchisee structures to help grow the portfolio.

We have a strong sales network across major destinations around the world and plan to further strengthen our team and 

reach to expand business opportunities.

Re-imagining a SMART approach

S
STRATEGIC

M
MARGIN 

ENHANCEMENT

A
ASSET MANAGEMENT

R
RELATIONSHIPS

T
TRACKING

Strong sales offices network and 

healthy geo sources

What we will manage
The brandscape of IHCL is divided into three broad categories – 

Palaces, Leisure and Business. With Taj being the market leader 

in the palaces and leisure segment, we aim to manage and 

grow the business section to meet the midscale customer in 

ways that are relevant to them, yet are distinctive, different and 

memorable.

The underlying theme of our brandscape

> Address diverse customer segments and price points

> Align brandscape to dominate high-growth segments

> Adapt branding for profitability and scale
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A refreshed brandscape

Re-imagining Our Future

OUR NEW LOOK

One of the key aspects of Aspiration 2022 
involves reimagining our brandscape. The 
intent is to build on the opportunities across 
luxury, upscale, midscale and economy 
categories, which are the growth drivers for 
tomorrow. IHCL has market equity as the 
largest hospitality company in the subcontinent, 
with true Indian origins, and it resonates with 
investors and partners. As the parent brand, 
IHCL can go beyond the current offerings, 

ranging from luxury palaces to budget hotels 
and other B2B verticals such as TajSATS. It can 
help unlock the equity of ‘nestled’ brands such 
as Khazana, Jiva and Food & Beverage (F&B) 
brands. It can also create new business drivers 
such as shared economy models and go beyond 
the traditional offerings. Further, it can fuel 
growth by attracting partners and talent for 
IHCL as a group and therefore, broad base the 
impact that it can generate. 

To define our personality as a distinct identity and to eliminate 

the overlap between the umbrella entity and its brands, we 

have undergone a makeover that is both contemporary while 

retaining our legacy.

As the perfect metaphor for our corporate identity, we have 

taken inspiration from the Golden Ratio, which represents the 

harmonious proportion in the different patterns found in nature. 

The typeface, too, has been thought through meticulously so 

that it is the right blend of the modern and the traditional. 

Additionally, the colour chosen is a neutral and distinct midnight 

blue so that it does not overpower any of its brands.



50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

37  

OUR NEW BRAND ARCHITECTURE 

F&B SALON

Luxury Select Hotels Upscale Economy Service Retail Volume Catering

The refreshed brand architecture will enable IHCL to expand its portfolio across different customer segments 

with various brands to address different price points, thereby catering to a wide range of audiences. IHCL 

will provide maximum flexibility to its portfolio of brands, yet align them with a common spirit. While Taj will 

continue to operate iconic hotels in key gateway cities, the Vivanta brand will be our growth vehicle in Tier II 

and III cities, while Ginger will cater to millennial customers.   
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We are efficiently backed by our robust business enablers, which 

are the backbone of our strategy, Aspiration 2022, to become a 

profitable, scalable and the most iconic hospitality brand in India. 

Culture and Tajness
Our culture, with Tajness at the its heart, 

binds us together and provides a common 

purpose to our highly engaged and 

committed workforce. It keeps us ahead 

of others in the industry. Inculcating a 

strong culture of leadership, accountability 

and performance through mutual trust, 

awareness and joy, we, the IHCL family, 

are well poised to support Aspiration 2022 

with the 3R strategy: Re-structure,  

Re-engineer and Re-imagine.

Pan-India footprint
We have established a strong foothold in 

the country with iconic properties across 

strategic locations, enhancing our reach, 

scale and customer connect. The acumen 

to create destinations out of locations and 

strongly expand our presence is one of 

the key enablers for Aspiration 2022.

Strong brand equity
Through the years, we have profitably 

built a loyal and engaged customer base 

for all our brands. Our ability to weave 

Indian heritage and culture into our 

services and offerings sets up apart from 

other players in the industry. This brand 

equity will further help us grow our value 

to achieve Aspiration 2022.

Gallup Brand Equity Track Survey 2017 
has rated Taj higher than other hotel 
brands across industry drivers as well 
as brand differentiators to become the 
first choice of customers.

Business enablers
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Market leadership in the leisure  
and palaces segment
We are the market leaders in the leisure and palaces 

segment, making us the largest domestic leisure 

operator. Our ability to restore and operate marquee 

original palace properties, deliver authentic and 

memorable experiences to our guests and our 

deep understanding of the segment gives us the 

competitive edge and drives our efficiency.

High customer engagement
We are guided by our performance-oriented culture, 

which is not only reflected in our workforce, but 

is also evident in the positive response of our 

customers and guests. Consistent performance in 

customer satisfaction indices is just one indicator 

of the level of their association and engagement 

with us. We are committed to maintain and further 

enhance customer loyalty through service excellence. 

“Taj has always been my first choice in India due to its services, staff, locations and 
the brand name. The personal, individual and forthcoming staff at Taj ensures that the 
guests are pampered and treated like kings.”

Mr. B. Steinrucke

Indo German Chamber of Commerce
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WWW.TAJHOTELS.COM/ 
BEST-RATE-GUARANTEE/

Optimising digital for 
service excellence
As our customer profile changes ‘glocally’, optimising digital is becoming 
an imperative need. We are dedicated to serving digitally literate customers 
from all over the world. Through the use of the right technology platforms, 
we have optimised our customer know-how and designed customised 
services and offers across product categories. This has renewed focus on 
our business operations for strengthening competitiveness and making 
core operations faster, better streamlined and more efficient.

Multilingual websites
We have multilingual websites in lite 

versions to serve customers from all 

over the world as per their exclusive 

preferences. Last year, we launched 

our websites in French, Spanish, 

German and Simplified Chinese, with 

localised content on our products. 

This has helped our customers make 

informed choices, adding to their 

superior online experience. 

Best rate guarantee
We aim to offer our customers assured 

best rates without them having to check 

another website or source. To this end, 

we launched the Taj Direct Best Rate 

Guarantee challenge. Through this 

challenge, we promise best rates on 

tajhotels.com and if a customer finds a 

lower rate for the same room, we not only 

match the rate, but also offer a further 

10% discount on it. The format has 

resulted in boosting customer confidence 

in our brands.

Mobile app and booking engine
We launched a new hybrid mobile 

application to provide ease of exploration 

and booking on smartphones. We 

also introduced a new booking engine 

including unbiased guest reviews and 

a rate-check mechanism to drive direct 

bookings on the brand website. This has 

vastly augmented the service experience 

of our online guests.
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HOW IT CLICKS

Data analytics
In order to drive better data analytics and improved 

insights, we rolled out Google 360 for our digital 

platforms to get a total view of our web traffic. With this, 

we have been able to better understand our customers, 

their preferences and choices, along with successfully 

converting viewers to customers.

Taj.Live
Taj’s social media command centre, Taj.Live, is designed 

to deliver an exceptional guest experience on social media 

platforms through live radio streams. With this initiative, we 

have been successful in executing 100 ‘guest delights’ with the 

help of real-time ‘guest listening’ capability. Our conversion 

rates have also multiplied. 

95% 1.8 Million
CUSTOMER 

ENGAGEMENT UP 

FROM 85%

THE SOCIAL MEDIA COMMUNITY 

INCREASED BY 24%

Multilingual website 
in lite versions

Mobile-responsive 
sites and apps

Over 10 million unique 
visitors to the website

Best-in-class 
technology partners

Ancillary revenues via click-to-call/chat  
and online table management functionality

Fastest-growing channel with over 50% increase in 
direct online revenue and 148% increase in mobile 
web revenue since 2016
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Our people
Our workforce is the backbone of our organisation. As we now 
stand at an inflection point of transformational growth, we are 
undertaking initiatives to build people capability to further enhance 
our performance-oriented culture and accelerate our business in an 
environment of trust, transparency, empowerment and accountability.

Leadership development and capability building

Cohort II of the General Manager Development Programme was 

run for 30 General Managers to build their capability and groom 

them for the future. 

The participants from Cohort I continue to work on their 

Action Learning Projects (ALPs), which have generated 

significant Return on Investment (ROI) for the Company, 

apart from fostering an environment of continuous learning 

and improvement. The ALPs are centred on themes such as 

Financial Management, Guest and Employee Centricity, Gender 

Diversity, Reduction of Carbon Footprint, Shared Services 

and Heritage Management. The ALP on Reduction of Carbon 

Footprint at Taj Bangalore alone generated savings upward of 

`50 Lakhs for us in a span of less than a year.

Our Learning & Development portal, TajLEAD, continues to 

provide world-class learning content to our Senior Executives 

across a wide range of operational and functional topics. All 

Managers have access to courses that are created by faculty 

from leading business schools such as Stanford University, 

Harvard Business School, INSEAD and many more.

We have also launched the Training Enablement & 

Development (TREND) Programme for the frontline talent, 

covering over 48 hotels across the organisation, ensuring 

consistent roll-out of behaviours, knowledge, skills and 

mandatory programmes. 
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Hotelier Development Programme (HDP) 

We continue to strengthen the Hotelier Development 

Programme (HDP) to create a talent pipeline for hotels 

and build future leaders for the Company. The programme 

recruits the best available talent in the country in hotel 

operations and other areas such as finance, sales and 

marketing and Human Resources (HR). 

Golden Threshold Programme (GTP)

To support our focus on developing frontline talent for our 

Company and the industry, we partnered with Tata Institute 

of Social Sciences (TISS) to initiate the Golden Threshold 

Programme (GTP). 

This is a three-year vocational training programme where 

students are awarded a B.Voc in Hospitality Management 

by TISS. We are the Skill Knowledge Provider for the 

programme. Currently, we have a total of 120 Golden 

Threshold trainees across five cities and ten hotels.

Targeted Selection (TS)

To strengthen our hiring process, we introduced the 

technique of Targeted Selection (TS), an internationally-

acclaimed selection technique used for hiring senior 

management professionals. This technique helps develop a 

consistent and objective framework for the selection criteria. 

We have deployed the TS technique for talent acquisition for 

Hotel Mancom (Management Committee) for senior profiles 

such as Corporate Associate Vice Presidents.

Culture workshop on emotional intelligence 

In order to assess the current culture as perceived by our 

employees, we conducted a Culture Survey supported by a 

research scholar from IIM-Ahmedabad. The results of this 

survey were then presented to the senior leadership to foster 

critical thinking and build further on our strengths and correct 

opportunity areas as seen in the survey.

Since the Senior Managers’ emotional maturity largely 

determines the culture in the organisation, we conducted a  

full-day workshop on emotional intelligence, after duly 

assessing the current levels of emotional intelligence through 

a scientific tool. The workshop was conducted by our EVP & 

Global Head – Human Resources. Follow-up coaching sessions 

with these leaders are being held in order to suggest further 

areas of development.
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Serving happiness to the world

At IHCL, we diligently follow the Tata group’s principle of improving the quality 
of life of the communities we serve. We are committed to further our legacy 
of ‘Giving Back to Society’ and focus on building livelihoods for our target 
communities and geographies, supporting heritage and tourist spots and 
caring for the environment. 

Livelihoods development and inclusion

We have been following a focussed approach for imparting 

vocational training and certification to young dropouts and 

helping them engage in productive functions in the hospitality 

and service industry. We also extend support to differently-abled 

persons and train women for acquiring vocational skills. 

We have built an ecosystem to improve the living conditions 

of people from challenging socio-economic backgrounds and 

provide income-generation opportunities. Our Corporate Social 

Responsibility (CSR) initiatives encourage procurement of goods 

made by women, vendors and small entrepreneurs from  

socio-economically deprived communities. Further, as a part of 

the Tata Affirmative Action Programme, a number of young men 

and women have been absorbed by Taj Hotels. Moreover, many 

small-scale enterprises and social impact organisations have 

been developed and given an opportunity to become a part of 

the Taj value chain. 

Over the last decade, in collaboration with Government Industrial 

Training Institutes and NGOs such as Don Bosco and Pratham, 

we have impacted over 15,000 youths across regions. 

H7 Crore+ 
WORTH OF GOODS PROCURED  

THIS YEAR THROUGH INCLUSION  

AND DIVERSITY

At IHCL, we recruit an average of 15-20% of trained candidates from 
the talent pool developed in association with our CSR partners, 
offering career opportunities to youth from low-income group families. 
In FY 2017-18, we trained and certified 2,720 persons from  
across India.

CSR and Sustainability Initiatives
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Traditional art and culture 
promotion

At IHCL, we not only preserve heritage 

properties, but also endeavour to 

contribute to the traditional arts, crafts 

and culture of the regions where we 

operate. We have built partnerships with 

artisans, weavers and NGOs to promote 

local art and craft by offering them 

display spaces across Taj properties to 

showcase and sell to guests, also adding 

value to the Taj experience. 

We partnered with Tata Samvaad to 

curate and showcase 46 unique tribal 

dishes representing the food cultures of 

nine tribes from eight different states in 

Jamshedpur. This was followed by a very 

well-appreciated pop-up event on native 

food at Taj Bengal, Kolkata. 

Further, we are continuing our efforts to 

preserve the art of traditional Benarasi 

handloom weaving by enabling over 60 

craftsmen and women to weave  

Taj uniforms.

100+
TRADITIONAL CULTURE MEMBERS 

SUPPORTED EVERY YEAR

Public space maintenance 

In support of the Swachh Bharat Abhiyan 

initiative of the Government of India, 

we help in the upkeep of a number of 

public places. Some of our key initiatives 

include:

> Maintenance of public parks, traffic 

squares, pavements, bus stops, etc. in 

our neighbourhoods

> Maintenance of Varanasi Ghats

> Maintenance around Gateway of India, 

Mumbai

> Upkeep and promotion of National Rail 

Museum, Delhi

25+ 
PUBLIC SPACES CONSERVED

Conservation and  
environmental sustainability

We have partnered with EarthCheck, the 

world’s leading scientific benchmarking 

certification and advisory group for 

the travel and tourism industry, to 

monitor our environmental performance 

comprising waste, water, energy and 

emissions. Till now, 79 of our properties 

have been certified by EarthCheck, 

the highest number for any hospitality 

company in the world.

Phased out single-use plastics from 30 luxury 
properties across India, setting a benchmark 
for the hospitality industry in India

Promoting the culture of giving back 
to society and volunteering

At IHCL, we conduct a social responsibility 

immersion programme for our future 

Managers to experience the life and 

challenges of those living in the remote 

parts of India and other disadvantaged 

sections of the society. This year, over 60 

of our young Managers from the Hotelier 

Development Programme undertook a 

45-day immersion stint, taking up over 20 

projects aimed at promoting their spirit 

of volunteering and delivering community 

development goals. 

Year on year, we encourage associates to 

volunteer for participating in community 

development initiatives, Tata Volunteering 

Months and environmentally-responsible 

endeavours. This reporting year, over 

300 of our volunteers conducted training 

sessions and student assessments at 

Tata Strive Skill Development Centres. 

Disaster relief and rehabilitation 

We work closely with NGOs and agencies 

to provide relief to disaster-affected 

areas. Along with offering security, 

medical facilities, food and drinking water 

to destitute people, we also organise 

medical camps. We have also extended 

support in reconstructing properties 

damaged due to any calamity.

Energy

A total of 252,677,658 MJ of energy was 

procured from renewable sources in 

FY 2017-18. As a result, 58.58 KT of Co
2
 

was avoided, significantly reducing our 

carbon footprint. Our renewable energy 

consumption now stands at 21% of the 

total energy mix.

Taj Krishna, Hyderabad, won the CII National 
Award for Excellence in Energy Management 
2017, in the Buildings Category

Waste

This year, we have successfully prevented 

5,329 tonnes of organic waste from going 

into landfills. Of the 79 hotels covered 

under the EarthCheck programme, 18 

properties achieved 100% recycling of 

organic waste. 

Water 

A total of 3,276,923 KL of water was 

consumed from recycled and reused 

sources, including harvested rainwater 

and recycled Sewage Treatment Plant 

(STP) water. The amount of water saved 

is comparable to the amount of water in 

1,311 Olympic swimming pools.
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The Tata group turned 150 in 2018 and we, at IHCL, are proud to be a part of 

its legacy since 1899 as we participate in its ‘One IHCL One Tata’. 

One Tata is a Tata group-wide initiative designed to drive synergies across 

all Tata companies through simplification to jointly enhance scale. Given the 

breadth of operations of the Tata group, leveraging the ‘One Tata’ concept 

has opened limitless possibilities for all Tata companies. 

IHCL’s core philosophy of ‘One IHCL’ is fuelled by vision, authenticity 

and passion. It binds the group entities together, extending the feeling 

of oneness and family among employees and partners across the IHCL 

landscape, similar to that of the Tata group.

Commemorative Vintage Menu

We showcased the first known  

Taj menu, created in 1936.

Friends & Family Rate 
for Tata Associates
 
We provided the Tata group colleagues 

an exclusive offer for stays across hotels 

in India and international destinations. 

The offer ensures that the quintessential 

hospitality is experienced by the entire 

Tata family at a never before  

compelling value.

Unveiling the Tata 150 logo in air

 

TajSATS, in association with Vistara, 

showcased the TATA 150 logo on 

specially-designed meal boxes, offering 

flyers a whiff of the legacy and the 

celebration along with specially-crafted 

food. TajSATS also created special-edition 

chocolate boxes to be retailed across Tata 

group companies. 

Celebrating 150 years of Tata

One IHCL. One Tata.
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TAJ CELEBRATION OFFER
15% discount on lowest available
room only rate

EARN 25%* AS POINTS
ON DINING AND SPA
Across restaurants, bars and
spas at Taj Hotels worldwide

TAJ INNERCIRCLE SILVER
TIER

HAPPY HOURS AT ALL 
BARS IN TAJ HOTELS

6 pm – 8 pm

50%* as points
2 room upgrade vouchers 

VOUCHERS

POINTS EXPIRY

someone who has
a valid unexpired membership

Annual membership at a special fee of INR 4500+ taxes for TATA associates 

EXCLUSIVE REWARDS AND PRIVILEGES

TAJ CELEBRATES 150 YEARS OF THE TATA GROUP

Limited-edition Epicure Card

We introduced a limited-edition Epicure card for Tata Associates, 

giving them a lifetime opportunity to enjoy multiple offers and 

benefits at a special rate.

As all the 100 Tata companies came together to celebrate 
the fascinating journey of the group, we also rolled out 
special initiatives to commemorate the milestone and 
remember the years gone by.

Book. Stay. Celebrate.

Accommodation at all Ginger properties, across 

room categories, was made available at a special 

rate of H2,018 (plus taxes).
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CORPORATE AWARDS

IHCL 

Best Hospitality Corporate Governance – India award by Capital 

Finance International (CFI.co)

Gallup Great Workplace award for the seventh time and IHCL is the 

only Indian hospitality company on the list 

Set a global benchmark in hospitality for environmental 

sustainability with 67 of its hotels being awarded Gold Certification 

by EarthCheck out of a total of 79 EarthCheck certified hotels 

Featured on the list of India’s 50 Best Companies for Talent 

Satisfaction at the People Capital Index awards

Presented with the All India Investor Relations Award in the Large 

Cap Category by the Investor Relations Society of India, in association 

with KPMG India, Bloomberg and the Bombay Stock Exchange 

Awarded Best Hotel Company at the Dun and Bradstreet  

Corporate awards 

Taj Hotels 

Recognised as the Luxury Hotel Chain of the Year at the PATWA 

International Awards 

Acknowledged as Best Company to Work for in Hospitality in the 

Business Today Best Companies to Work for Survey

Recognised as Best Hotel Group, Runner-up, at the Telegraph Travel 

Awards UK

Received the Best Business Hotel Chain in India award by Business 

Traveller UK

SERVICE AWARDS

Umaid Bhawan Palace, Jodhpur

Recognised as the Best Hotel in India; ranked 

Number 2 in Asia and Number 3 in the World’s Best 

Hotels list at the TripAdvisor Travellers’ Choice 

Awards

The Taj Mahal Palace, Mumbai and Taj Lake 
Palace, Udaipur

Featured on the Condé Nast Traveler USA  

Gold List 

Rambagh Palace, Jaipur; Umaid Bhawan 
Palace, Jodhpur and Taj Palace, New Delhi 

Featured on the list of 50 Best Hotels in the World 

at the Condé Nast Traveler USA Readers’ Choice 

Awards 

Meghauli Serai, A Taj Safari Lodge,  
Chitwan National Park, Nepal  

Recognised as the ‘Best of the Best’ by Robb Report 

in the category of Luxury Lodges Taking Adventure 

to New Extremes 

Awards
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STANDALONE CONSOLIDATED

2017-18 2016-17 2017-18 2016-17

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Total Income  2,639.34  2,459.58  4,165.28  4,075.51 

 339.42  228.53  161.84  41.36 

 284.23  262.04  184.29  30.58 

 147.77  143.18  100.87 

Total Assets  7,703.73  6,236.97  9,374.54  8,634.28 

 118.93  98.93  118.93  98.93 

 4,275.03  2,668.27  4,062.17  2,418.76 

 777.39  737.82 

 4,393.96  2,767.20  4,958.49  3,255.51 

 1,783.88  2,048.98  2,427.43  3,382.98 

0.41:1 0.74:1 0.49:1 1.04:1

` `  36.95  27.97  41.69  32.91 

` 1.34 1.37 0.91 

`  0.40  0.35  0.40  0.35 

Financial Highlights
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To the Members

th

Financial Results
` / crores

Standalone Consolidated

2017-18 2016-17 2017-18 2016-17

Total Income 2639.34 2459.58 4165.28 4075.51

684.19 577.70 732.08 664.56

339.42 228.53 161.84 41.36

284.23 262.04 184.29 30.58

147.77 143.18 63.23

147.77 143.18 100.87

 
` 

Source: UNWTO

Source: Ministry 
of Tourism, Government of India
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(Source: STR reports)

Income
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th

st

Secretarial Audit

 
 



58  Annual Report 2017-18

 Chairman
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of the Company
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`

 
`

`
crores
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Areas  
`

Amount of 
 

`

partners

partners sites

cleanliness

sites of historical 
importance

other such community 

Community 
in hospitality partners

523.49 527.27
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Sr. 

 Sr. 

Associate
shares
held
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 Sr. 

Associate
shares
held

Associate

Associate

Associate

Associate

Associate

Associate

 T
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IV. Shareholding Pattern (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)

 i) Category-wise Shareholding

shareholder
  % 

the 
Total

Total 
Shares

Total
total 

shares
A. Promoters

0 38.56 0 39.09 0.43

0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

Promoter 
0 38.65 0 39.09 0.43

 Companies

 Alternate     
 

39.94 40.65 0.71
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shareholder
  % 

the 
Total

total 
shares

Total
total 

shares

 share capital    
 upto ` 

 share capital in
`

 Trusts

 
 Authority

21.40 20.26 -1.14
Total Public 

 
61.35 60.91 -0.43

100.00 100.00 0.00

100.00 100.00 0.00

Sr.

shares shares 
encumbered 

to total
shares

shares
encumbered

to total
shares

Sir Ratan Tata Trust
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Sr.

shares shares 
encumbered 

to total
shares

shares
encumbered

to total
shares

38.65 0.00 39.09 0.00 0.00

Sr. 
shareholder  

shares shares shares shares 

Trust

Sir Ratan Tata Trust
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Sr. 
shareholder  

Reason
 

shares shares shares shares 

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Reliance Capital 
Trustee Company 

Sale

Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
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Sr. 
shareholder  

Reason
 

shares shares shares shares 

Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
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Sr. 
shareholder  

Reason
 

shares shares shares shares 

Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
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Sr. 
shareholder  

Reason
 

shares shares shares shares 

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Assurance Company 

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
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Sr. 
shareholder  

Reason
 

shares shares shares shares 

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Sale
Sale

Sale

Sale
Sale

1 
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Sr.  
 

shares shares shares shares shares

 

V. Indebtedness

` / crores

Contracts
Total Indebtedness

244.27

756.44 230.56

VI. 
 A. 

` / crores
Sr. Puneet 

1

Rakesh 
Sarna

2

3
Mehernosh Total

Amount

 

Total 1.72 15.87 0.67 2.73 20.99
 1 2 3  
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Sr. Ireena 
Parekh 1

Vibha Paul 
Rishi

Total
Amount

Commission
Total

 

  `

Sr. 1 2 Total
Amount

Commission

Total

 1

 2

  The remu

C. 
`/crores

Sr.
Senior Vice President 

1

 
Vice President & 

Commission

Total 1.25 2.03
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St March 2018
 

To
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`  

`

`
each at a premium of ` `

 

`  

Company Secretaries
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Company Secretaries
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V

 

 
`

 
` in 2018 as  

2017

 
 
 
 

 
`

 
` in 2018 as 

2017
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`

` 

` 

 

Future Trends
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Report 2017 & BW Hotelier.com)

 

 

FY 2018 Hotels
Business

Chennai

Pan-India
Total 64.7% 143
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th

th

th (Source: World Economic Forum- The Global 

`

 your 

 ‘Most 
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Four Pillars
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`
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136 children

care

Standalone Financial Results

` / crores
Year ended

Income

Total Income

            
               532.85                426.39

               339.42                228.53

               284.23                262.04

               147.77                143.18

` / crores

March  

Total Income

`



92  Annual Report 2017-18

 
`  

`

`
`

`  
` `

`

`

`

`

`
`

` / crores

2018

contractors
` / crores

2018

payment to 
contractors

` / crores

2018

` / crores

2018

Total 1072.90 1028.65 4

 
` `

 
` `

`
crores in the previous year to `

` / crores

2018

 
`
`



50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

93  

` / crores

2018

Contracts

contracts

-

Total 33.51

` / crores

2018

`

`
`

` / crores

2018

 

 

 106.28

at ` `

` `

`

`

`

` `

`

` / crores

s

2018
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Consolidated Financials

Consolidated Results

` /crores

2018
Income

Total Income

          

430.88 365.19

184.29 30.58

63.23

100.87

Income

` `
 

Finance Costs
 

`  
`

` / crores

2018

contracts

commercial reasons

associate

22.45

`
`
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` s

2018

59.04 8.14

 
` `

`
`

`

` / crores

2018
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Philosophy on Code of Corporate Governance
As a Tata Company, Corporate Governance is a way of life at 
The Indian Hotels Company Limited (‘IHCL’). Our philosophy 

even before they were mandated. The Company seeks to 

Company’s business philosophy. The cardinal principles such 
as independence, accountability, responsibility, transparency, 

the philosophy of Corporate Governance.

with the adherence to the Tata Business Excellence Model as 

Governance Guidelines
The Company has adopted Governance Guidelines to help 

Board will have the necessary authority and processes to 

Board of Directors

Report on Corporate Governance

are disclosed on the website of the Company  
under URL 

directors.pdf

 

than three listed companies.
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`

  As a policy, Mr. N. Chandrasekaran, Chairman, has 

 

Board Chairman is detailed in the Board’s Report. They 

in which the Company operates, business model of the 
Company, etc. All the Board members of the Company 

 
 

and the industry of which it is a part. The details of 

Tata Code of Conduct

the ethical principles and desired behaviours. The TCOC 
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The above Codes are also displayed on the Company’s 
website under the weblink 

pdf. The Annual Report of the Company contains 

adherence to the Codes of Conduct.

before submission to the Board for approval, with 

  

included in the Board’s report in terms of 
 

the Act
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internal control systems of a material nature and 

commences, about the nature and scope of audit as 

the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, 

 

as it considers appropriate to be present at its 

Parekh was present at the last AGM.

Internal Auditors to focus on compliance issues and to 
conduct detailed reviews of the processes and internal 

of the Members above their own and conduct their 

  note and take on record the status reports 

 
 

 i.  Recommend to the Board the set up and 
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 ii.  Recommend to the Board the appointment or 

 iv.  Recommend to the Board appointment of Key 

 vii.  On an annual basis, recommend to the Board the 

 ix.  Oversee the human resource philosophy, human 

as may be consistent with the provisions of NRC 
charter.

   As recommended by the NRC, the Board has 

of leadership with trust. The remuneration of 

by the NRC based on factors such as industry 

by the Board. Remuneration comprises a fixed 

NRC also recommends the annual increments 
within the salary scale approved by the Members 
as also the performance linked incentive payable 

prescribed under the Act.

of the Company calculated in accordance with the 

the Board’s Report.

Directors

to the approval of the Members.

Guidelines adopted by the Board) terminable 
 



50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

101  

appointed as an employee of United Overseas 

owned subsidiary of the Company, for a period 
 

aforesaid contracts with the Company and UOH Inc. 

which remained unresolved. The Company has also 

redress system which serves as a Centralised database 

Taken Reports (‘ATRs’) by the concerned companies and 

complaint and its current status. All valid share transfers 

 

received
 

Nil

also liable to be transferred to the demat account of the 

  In the interest of the shareholders, the Company sends 
periodical reminders to the shareholders to claim 

also published in the newspapers and the details of 
unclaimed dividends and shareholders whose shares 

uploaded on the Company’s website (
).

  The members who have a claim on above dividends 

available on the website 
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  Given below are the proposed dates for transfer of the 

Financial 
Year of Dividend

Proposed Date of 
1

 

the Company, in respect of which dividend has not been 

`

Company

with the Company

with the Company

Interest accrued on the unpaid matured 
deposits

Interest accrued on the unpaid matured 
debentures

 Mr. Beejal Desai

 The Indian Hotels Company Limited
 

 

 

  

  

  

  

business proposals made to the Board are 
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competencies, inspire employees and suppliers 

  

 

  

  

  

  

  

the Members.

Name of the Director
held

Mr.  Deepak Parekh

Date Time
passed

Birla Matushri 

Thackersey 

 Private 
Placement 

 Payment of 
Minimum 

to Mr. Rakesh 

 Private 
Placement 

i.  The Company has not entered into any materially 

of interest between the Company and its Promoters, 
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has been uploaded on the Company’s website at 

.

the Company.

pursuant to which employees can raise their concerns 

The policy has been disclosed on the website of the 
Company under the link 

v.  The Company has also adopted the policy on 

(
policy.pdf

) 

placed before and reviewed by the Board.

‘material’ subsidiaries which has been disclosed on the 
website of the Company under the link 

docx



50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

105  

Names No. of outside 
Directorships 

as at 

No. of outside 

Held2

No. of 
Board 

No. of 
Audit 

No. of NRC No. of CSR 
at the last 

AGM

Perks Fees 
Commission / 
Performance 

1 as as 
Chairman

Mr. N. 
Chandrasekaran 
(Chairman)*

6 6

Independent
6

Independent
6

Independent
6 No

Mr. Gautam 
Independent

Rishi Independent

Kapadia
6 6

Mr. Puneet 
Chhatwal

NA 6 NA

NA NA NA NA

Mr. Niddodi 
6 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Independent NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Mistry NA NA NA NA NA NA

Mr. Anil P. Goel NA NA NA NA NA NA

Includes only Public Limited Companies

6

component of Corporate Governance. It is a process of 

announcement, annual report, media releases, Company’s 
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been provided on the website of the Company.

which serves as a centralised database of all complaints 

depositories.

emailed soft copies of its Annual Report to all those 

soft copies of the Annual Report, Postal Ballot Notices 
and other information disseminated by the Company, on 

are also available in the Investor Relations section on the 
.

statements.

the same as and when necessary.

Date and Time
Venue  

 

Mandlik House, Mandlik Road, 

Telephone No.
Facsimile No.

Book Closure  
(both days inclusive)

Dividend Payment Date

 

 

 

 

Stock Codes
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Months

`
`

Volume  
`

 
`

Volume 

Performance in Comparison to broad-based indices such as BSE Sensex
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Share Transfer System

No. of Shares held % to Paid up capital

Promoters

Corporate Bodies
Insurance Companies

Others

Total
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39.09

400

12.55

6.87

16.06

6.77

2.89

14.71

0.57

0.49

5 10 15 20
% of Holding

Promoters

Resident
Individuals & ...

Financial
Institutions / ...

Foreign
Institutions / ...

Corporate
Bodies

Insurance
Companies

Mutual Funds /
UTI

Others

Non-Resident
Indians

25 30 35

No. of Shares held Total No. of Total No. of 
Shares

Total % to 
Paid up 
Capital

Total

shares in physical form and the total number of dematerialised 

Sl. 
No.

No. of 

holders

No. of 
equity 

shares held

Number of shareholders who approached the 

for transfer of shares from the Unclaimed 

Number of shareholders to whom shares were 

Analysis Report.

in electronic form. The Company has established 

allotted to the shares under the depository system is 

 

likely impact on equity
 

Report on Corporate Governance

 has been set up for investor complaints.
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Puneet Chhatwal

Annexure
To

Company.

Prakash K. Pandya
Partner



110  Annual Report 2017-18

Company/ Hotel/ Unit Rooms Company/ Hotel/ Unit Rooms Company/ Hotel/ Unit Rooms

Joint Venture Companies

66 Chennai

Associate Companies

Umaid Bhawan Palace, Jodhpur



50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

111  

Company/ Hotel/ Unit Rooms Company/ Hotel/ Unit Rooms Company/ Hotel/ Unit Rooms

66

Amritsar

Goa

Kolkata

Mumbai

Residences, London

Bombay Brasserie

Quilon
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L74999MH1902PLC000183

 The Indian Hotels Company 
Limited (‘IHCL’)

 Mandlik House, Mandlik Road, 
Mumbai- 400001

www.tajhotels.com

 April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018

551

561

 a) Rooms
 b) Food and beverage services

Boston

 Maldives

Bangalore, Goa, Rajasthan, Bengal

 `/crores

1. Paid up capital 118.93

2. Total turnover (net of excise) 2639.34

3.
associate and minority interest 

147.77

4. Total spending on Corporate Social 5.27

 b) Livelihood enhancement projects

and 6 Associates as at March 31, 2018.

Limited, Benaras Hotels Limited and some managed 

 No.
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07624616 Mr. Puneet 
Chhatwal and Chairman of  CSR 

00066195 Mr. Nadir B. Godrej
05195656

1. Name

2.
Head Human Resources

3. Telephone 
Number

022-61371637

4. Email

are based on nine principles in the realm of Business 

P1 Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with 
Ethics, Transparency and Accountability

P2 Businesses should provide goods and services that are 
safe and contribute to sustainability throughout their life 
cycle.

P3 Businesses should promote the well-being of all 
employees

P4 Businesses should respect the interests of, and be 
responsive towards all stakeholders, especially those 
who are disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized.

P5 Businesses should respect and promote human rights.
P6

restore the environment.
P7

regulatory policy, should do so in a responsible manner.
P8 Businesses should support inclusive growth and 

equitable development.
P9 Businesses should engage with and provide value to 

their customers and consumers in a responsible manner.

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

1. N
2.

relevant stakeholders?
N

3.
standards? Industry 

benchmarks Industry 
Benchmarks

UNGC
N

ITP

4. Has the policy been approved by the Board? N

5.

the policy?

N

6. Indicate the link for the policy to be viewed online?  

7. Has the policy been formally communicated to all relevant 
internal and external stakeholders?

N

8.
the policy/policies?

N

9.
mechanism related to the policy/policies to address 
stakeholders’ grievances related to the policy/policies?

N

10. Has the Company carried out independent audit /

external agency?

N
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P7
1. The Company has not 

understood the Principles
2. The Company is not at a 

implement the policies on 

3. The Company does not 

resources available for the 
task

4. It is planned to be done within 
next six months

5. It is planned to be done within 
next one year

6. Any other reason (please 
specify)

The Company will 
plan to incorporate 

formal policy in 
coming years

  Indicate the frequency with which the Board of 

BR performance of the Company. Within 3 months, 

  The Company has a Board level CSR and Sustainability 
 

and assess the BR performance of the Company.

Report? What is the hyperlink for viewing this report? 
How frequently it is published?

  The UNGC report can be accessed at 
.

  The Sustainability Report 2017-18 will be uploaded on 
the website www.tajhotels.com once it is published.

extended to all stakeholders.

 33

provided to guests is our product and service. We 
endeavour to integrate measures entailing energy and 

responsible purchases from local and marginalized 

These are implemented right from the development 

in our hotels is measured per guest night, in terms of 

our environmental impact.

renewable energy sources both through Green Power 
Agreements with their electricity providers as well as 
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2017-18 together recycled and reused a total of 3,276,923 

grey water through onsite waste water treatment plants. 
The amount of recycled and reused water is equivalent to 

   The steps implemented to improve resource 

hot water systems. Further, we encourage the use 
of building materials that are recycled and locally 
extracted or manufactured wherever possible. 

EarthCheck program together used a total of 

both through Green Power Agreements with 
their electricity providers as well as onsite and 

total of 3,276,923 KL of water through rain water 

onsite waste water treatment plants. The amount 
of recycled and reused water is equivalent to 1311 

  The Company constantly endeavours to integrate 

widespread network of hotels, the Company understands 

In this regard, the Company has revamped its sourcing 

procurement by individual hotels has been replaced by 

system. In the new system, orders from hotels are 
consolidated, leading to full truck load shipments from 
vendors to warehouse and from warehouse to hotels. 

shipments.

serving the hotel needs through regional hubs. The 
Central Warehousing programme covers 40 vendors and 
600 stock keeping units with the business turnover of 
` 60 crores.

  The Company encourages its hotels to locally source 
products from small scale farmers, marginalized 
vendors and women self-help groups. Some of the 

guests, table napkins, dusters, dry snacks and pickles. 

to guests and sell their products. This generates the 

art forms.

sourced ` 885 lakhs worth of products and services from 
farmers, less privileged vendor’s women self-help groups 

livelihood.

Group and hotel Materials team along with the CSR team. 

their product and quality control measures to meet Taj 
standards. They also provide the vendors with market 
linkages both within the Taj network and externally. 

budding entrepreneurs dealing in food products.  Ethics, 

are emphasized on during the training.  The Company’s 

in building capacity.
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  Waste management is an integral part of our environment 

under the EarthCheck programme, 18 have achieved 

  Some of the other notable waste management projects 
implemented by the Company include the conversion 
of waste kitchen oil to biodiesel and the conversion 
of organic waste to compost and biogas. Hotels safely 
dispose hazardous waste like burnt oil and waste 
lubricant oil by giving it to authorized vendors. All 

sewage treatment before disposing water into municipal 
sewers and also reuse treated water, as appropriate.

benchmark for the hospitality industry in India. Single-

5621 2822 8443

 887

the employee. There are currently 3 employees who 

  In 17 hotels we have registered trade union which the 

council.

Child labour/forced 
labour/involuntary 
labour NIL NIL
Sexual harassment 15 NIL

employment NIL NIL

  Safety training is conducted at all hotels and includes 
training of both permanent as well as contractual 

processes and technologies within the system and 

Management System, Codex Standards and other 

1. Permanent Employees

2. Permanent Women Employees

3. Casual/Temporary/Contractual Employees

4.
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1.  Has the Company mapped its internal and external 

stakeholders.

vulnerable and marginalized stakeholders. Based on 

Tribes.

  Giving back to the local community is an integral part 
of the way the Company does business. This philosophy 

as a key stakeholder in the way business is conducted. 

strategy.

that serve the youth from low socio-economic 

through our industry networks.

skill training centers are located in key clusters around 

Trivandrum. We also support Tata Strive centers in remote 

people (‘RPL’) in the current year. This include people from 

Bhavan, Raj Bhavan and CRPF - Gurgaon, etc.

privileged women to acquire skills in house-keeping, 

allied trades, further adding to our impact in terms of 
building livelihoods for youth from families in need. Taj 

from these talent pools, on mutual feasibility basis, 

of handloom weaving and help build livelihoods for youth 

earn a livelihood through weaving will go a long way in 
empowering these women, while also preserving the 

  The Policy is applicable to the Company, its Subsidiaries 
and other stakeholders.
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which none are pending.

  The Company’s environmental vision is extended to its 
partners and subsidiary companies. All hotels within the 

adhere to the Company’s environmental vision.

its environment footprint and therefore reduce the 

in this regard is switching to renewable energy sources. 

is from renewable sources.

  The UNGC report can be accessed at 

the website www.tajhotels.com once it is published.

 No.

renewable sources of energy.

 Nil

 c) Experience India Society

India - FHRAI

 g) Indo - German Chamber of Commerce
 h) Indian Merchant Chambers

Industry
 m) U.S. India Business Council

leading hotel chains and tour operators to promote India 
through a public- private partnership with the Ministry 
of Tourism. The Experience India Society co-hosts food 

audiences as a part of the Incredible India campaign, 

Brand India

MICE industry, with members from State Governments, 
hotels, airlines, tour operators, travel agents, professional 
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the world.

member community, which represents 84 countries is 
on a mission to strengthen and inspire this extraordinary 
industry.

groups on the peripheries of the development journey of 

of Madhya Pradesh in Central India. The Company also 
endeavours to promote an inclusive value chain by 

of this program is to preserve the dying art form of 
handloom weaving and help build livelihoods for youth 

  The Company’s CSR programs are implemented by  
in-house CSR and HR teams, volunteers and in partnership 

  An impact assessment was conducted three years ago 
through TISS. Following the launch of certain new CSR 

two years.

  The manner in which the amount was spent during the 

` `

Building Livelihoods

livelihoods
embedded on-the-job 

work-readiness inputs

partners
Mumbai, Airoli, 
Lonavala, 

Chhindwara, 

Bengaluru, 
Hyderabad, 
Goa, 
Trivandrum, 

Pithoragarh

124.23 173.11
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` `

Being a Responsible 
Neighbour development of 

unique art forms
partners Taj hotel sites

48.26

265.39

Environmental 
sustainability of public spaces such 

as gardens, bus stops 
and roads, cleanliness, 

for public hygiene and 
cleanliness

58.00

buildings and 
sites of historical 
importance

of Gateway of India, 

119.70

Support towards 
charity homes, orphanages, 
other such community 

27.00

Community 
Welfare in hospitality partners

Mumbai, 

Bengaluru

146.3 88.77

523.49 527.27

direct community engagements and support with 
counselling, exposure visits and regular hand-holding, 

our social responsibility immersion programme, a set 
of our sharp and young management graduates spend 

partners and community clusters making our community 

are pending as on March 31, 2018. 

 Not Applicable.

 No

  The Company carried out Consumer engagement survey 

and the customer’s purchasing decisions. Customers 

buying decisions.

  The Company also carried out a Brand Equity track to 
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18%

12%

6%

19%

17%

28%

Miscellaneous Expenses

Outsourced Support Services

Professional Fees

Rent, Rates, Taxes & Insurance

Adver ng & Publicity

Deprecia on

BREAK UP OF OTHER EXPENDITURE

#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!

21%

3%

6%

4%

8%

7%

7%

7%

10%

27%

Other Expenditure

Stores & Opera ng Supplies

Provision for Tax

Repairs & Maintenance

Finance Cost

Other Opera ng Expense

License Fees

Fuel Power & Light

Food & Beverage consumed

Sta  Cost

BREAK UP OF TOTAL EXPENSES

` (55.19) crores.
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Report on the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial 
Statements

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone Ind AS 
Financial Statements

Auditors’ Responsibility

Opinion

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

 

For B S R & Co. LLP
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Annexure ‘A’ to the Independent Auditor’s Report

  ` 1.91 
`

  `
`

  
` `
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(`

Name of Act Nature of Dues Amount 
Demanded

Amount not 
Deposited 

/ Under 
Disputes

Period to 
which amount 

relates 
(Financial 

Year)

Forum where dispute is pending

1.91 1.91

`
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For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Partner
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Annexure ‘B’ to the Independent Auditor’s Report 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of sub-

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

Auditors’ Responsibility

Opinion

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Partner
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Balance Sheet 
Note

` crores ` crores
Assets
Non-current assets

5 (a)
6 (a)
7 (a)

Current assets

5 (b)

6 (b)
7 (b)

Total

Equity

Total Equity

Total

For B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran
 

Puneet Chhatwal

Deepak Parekh

Giridhar Sanjeevi

Beejal Desai
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Note

` crores ` crores
Income

Total 

Expenses

Total

 (55.19)

Tax expense
 111.19 

Total

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive Income for the year

`)
`)

For B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran
 

Puneet Chhatwal

Deepak Parekh

Giridhar Sanjeevi

Beejal Desai
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
` crores

 a) Equity 
Share 

Capital

b) Other Equity Total  
Equity

Equity 
Share 

Capital 
Subscribed

Reserves and Surplus Items of Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Other  
Equity

Capital 
Reserve Premium 

Account

General 
Reserve

Other 
Reserves

Retained 
Earnings

Equity 
Instruments 

through Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

earlier)

Restated balance at the beginning of the 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year  -  -  -  -  - 

For B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran
 

Puneet Chhatwal

Deepak Parekh

Giridhar Sanjeevi

Beejal Desai
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Statement of Cash Flows 

` crores ` crores

 1.19 

 19.99 

Carried over
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` crores ` crores

Brought over

Fund 

Net Increase/ (Decrease) In Cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Opening  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Closing 

For B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran
 

Puneet Chhatwal

Deepak Parekh

Giridhar Sanjeevi

Beejal Desai

Statement of Cash Flows 
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Pronouncements

(a) Statement of compliance
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 Interest
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 Dividend

  a) Provident and Family Pension Fund

   a) Gratuity Fund
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   c) Provident Fund Trust

    

Class of Assets 
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(g) Intangible Assets

Class of Assets

(h) Impairment of  Assets

(`).
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(j) Assets taken on lease

(k) Inventories

(l)   Government Grants

(m) Income Taxes
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(n) Provisions

(o) Borrowing Costs

(p) Statement of Cash Flows

(q) Earnings per Share

(s) Financial Instruments
 (I) Financial assets
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Debt Instruments -

   (i) 

   (ii)  Financial assets at fair value through 
Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

   (iii)  Financial assets at fair value through 

Equity Instruments -
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  Subsequent measurement

  

  

  Equity instruments

 

(t) Financial guarantee contracts
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rates (Appendix B)
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Freehold 
Land 

Buildings 
(Refer 

Footnote (i) 
& (iii))

Plant and 
Equipment

Furniture 
and Fixtures Equipment

Vehicles Total

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
Cost 

 6.57 

 - 

 - 

Net Block

` `

`

Website 
Development 

Cost
(Refer 

Footnote (i))

Service and 

Rights

Total

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
Cost

Net Block
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Holdings

As at
` crores ` crores

(a) Non-current Investments
 Fully Paid Unquoted Equity Investments 
 Investments in Subsidiary Companies (at cost)

`

`

1 
1 

`

`

`

`

`

`

`

`

`

`

`

`

 Investments in Associate Companies (at cost)
1 

`

`

 Investments in Subsidiary Company (at cost)
`

`

 Investments in Associate Companies (at cost)
` 1 

Ventures and Associates

and Associates

Carried over
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Holdings

As at
` crores ` crores

Brought over

Fully Paid Unquoted Equity Investments 
Investments in Other Companies (Refer Footnote (vi))

 
(`

`

`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`

Investments in Other Companies (Refer Footnote (vi))

 `

`
`
`
`
`
`
`

Total Investment in Equity Instruments

`  - 
 

(`
    

`
` `  7 

- -

Total Non-current Investments - Net

` `

` `
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Units
As at

` crores ` crores

(b) Current Investments

 Investments in Mutual Fund Units (Unquoted )

` crores ` crores
(a) Non Current Loans

 Considered good

(b) Current Loans

 Others
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` crores ` crores

(a) Non Current Financial Assets

 Others

(b) Current Financial Assets

 Others

 Other Advances 

 Interest Receivable

 Others

 Other Receivables

 Others

` crores ` crores
(a) Other Non Current Assets

(b) Other Current Assets
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` crores ` crores

` `
` `

` crores ` crores
Unsecured

` crores ` crores

` `

` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores
 5.11 
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` crores ` crores
Authorised Share Capital

`

Issued Share Capital
`

Subscribed and Paid Up
`  

`

` `
` `

No. of shares ` crores ` crores

No. of shares % of Holding 
`

 -  - 

No. of shares % of Holding 
`
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` crores ` crores
(a) Reserves & Surplus

 Capital Reserve

Reserve Fund

 -  - 

 - 

General Reserve  

Retained Earnings

-

 



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2018

50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

151  

` crores ` crores
(b) Other Comprehensive Income

 Equity Instruments fair valued through Other Comprehensive Income

 

Footnote:
`

(a) Long term borrowings

` crores ` crores

 

 Face 
Value cost cost

9.95

Term Loan from Banks  
 -  - 

Loans (Unsecured) 
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` crores ` crores

 

 Face 
Value cost cost

b) Short term borrowings 
 Loans repayable on demand from 

Bank

-

` `

` `

` `

(ii)

` `

` `
 

`

` `
`

`

`
`

` ` `
`

` ` `
 

`
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 Financial liability statement
` crores ` crores

a) Net debt

 Total Liquid investment (a)

 Gross Debt (b) 

 Net Debt ( (b) - (a) )

 Grand Total

` crores
 Liquid Assets Total

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents

Current 
Investments

 Gross 
Debt 

 Net Debt Interest 
accrued but 

not due / 
Unclaimed 

interest
(a) (b) (c) (d) = (c)-(a)-(b) (e) (f) (g) =(d)+(e)+(f)

 - 
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` crores ` crores

 Deposits from others

 Creditors for capital expenditure

Liability towards Loyalty Programmes

Other Payables

Others

Deposits from others

 

`  
`

 -  - 

Others

` `
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` crores ` crores
(a) Non Current provisions

(b) Current provisions

Opening 
Balance

 Closing 
Balance 

` crores ` crores ` crores

 59.44  6.85  66.29 

 - 

0.41  -  0.41 

 - -  - 

0.27  (0.27)  - 

60.12  6.58  66.70 
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` crores ` crores

Others

` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores

 

 

 

 



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2018

50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

157  

` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores

 95.15 

` crores ` crores

Others

Interest on Income Tax Refunds

Dividend Income from Investments

 1.51 

Others

` crores ` crores
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` crores ` crores

Footnote:
` `

` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores
(i)

 5.19 

(ii)

Carried over
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` crores ` crores
Brought over

Footnotes:

` crores ` crores

` `

` crores ` crores

` `
crore)]

Excludes ̀ ` `

` `

` `
` `

` crores ` crores

 

`

`
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` crores ` crores

Net Assets
5.59

Expense

`
` `

`

` crores ` crores

55.95

Others
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`

`
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` `

` `

` `

` crores

Total
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` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores

 

FVTPL

` crores

FVTOCI

` crores

 
cost

` crores

Total carrying 
value

` crores

Measured at fair value

 -

Not measured at fair value

Total
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FVTPL

` crores

FVTOCI

` crores

 
cost

` crores

Total carrying 
value

` crores

Measured at fair value

Not measured at fair value

Total  -

 
`

FVTPL FVTOCI
Total carrying 

value
` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Measured at fair value

 -
Not measured at fair value

Total

Measured at fair value

Not measured at fair value

Total  -

`
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b) Fair value hierarchy

 As on 

 ` crores  ` crores  ` crores
Total

 ` crores

Measured at fair value

 -

Not measured at fair value (Refer Footnotes)

Total  -

Measured at fair value

Not measured at fair value (Refer Footnotes)

Total  -  -

 

 As on 

` crores ` crores ` crores
Total

` crores

Measured at fair value

 -

Not measured at fair value (Refer Footnotes)
Total  -
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` crores ` crores ` crores
Total

` crores

Measured at fair value

Not measured at fair value (Refer Footnotes)

Total  -  -

 (a) 

 (b) 

 (c) 
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` crores
Assets

Equity
 Instruments

Loans

-

Risk management framework



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2018

168  Annual Report 2017-18

a) Credit risk

b) Liquidity risk

 i) Financing arrangements

` crores ` crores

Total

 

` crores ` crores

Total
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5th year 5th year
Total

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

 

Total

 -  -

Financial guarantee contracts  -

5th year 5th year
Total

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

 

Total

 -  -  -

Financial guarantee contracts

 iii) Capital Risk Management

Note  
` crores

 
` crores

Borrowings
11

Net debt
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c) Market risk

 i) Foreign Currency risk

principal (US$ 
million)

Fair values 
(` crores)

 
(` crores)

Total
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 ii) Interest rate risk

` `

 iii) Other market price risks

` crores ` crores

9.11

Total
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` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores

` `
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 (i) Amount to be recognised in Balance Sheet and movement in net liability

Gratuity 
Funded

Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Unfunded

Pension 
Top-up 

Unfunded

Pension 
Director 

Unfunded

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
- - -

163.60 - - - 7.15
- -
- 5.55 4.25 15.33 -

- - -
(167.49) - - - (8.95)

- - - -
- - - - 0.61

 Net (Asset) / Liability
(3.89) 5.55 4.25 15.33 (1.19)

Gratuity 
Funded

Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Unfunded

Pension 
Top-up 

Unfunded

Pension 
Director 

Unfunded

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

9.00 0.10 0.32 0.33 0.14
- - -

0.30 0.35 0.33 0.97 (0.09)
Total

9.30 0.45 0.65 1.30 0.05

` `

crores).

 (iii) Expenses recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Gratuity 
Funded

Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Unfunded

Pension 
Top-up 

Unfunded

Pension 
Director 

Unfunded

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
Remeasurements due to actuarial loss/ 

2.78 0.14 0.19 0.39 0.15
- - -

(1.28) 0.53 (0.13) 1.01 0.21
- - -

(11.16) - - - (0.33)

- - - -
- - - - (0.08)

Total
(9.66) 0.67 0.06 1.40 (0.05)
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Gratuity 
Funded

Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Unfunded

Pension 
Top-up 

Unfunded

Pension 
Director 

Unfunded

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
5.55

163.00 4.75 4.64 12.98 6.49

9.00 0.10 0.32 0.33 0.14
- - -

11.36 0.35 0.33 0.97 0.48

2.78 0.14 0.19 0.39 0.15
- - -

(1.28) 0.53 (0.13) 1.01 0.21

(21.26) (0.32) (1.10) (0.35) (0.32)
- - - -

163.60 5.55 4.25 15.33 7.15

Gratuity 
Funded

Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Unfunded

Pension 
Top-up 

Unfunded

Pension 
Director 

Unfunded

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
- - -

156.53 - - - 8.37
- - -

11.06 - - - 0.62

- - -

11.16 - - - 0.33
-

10.00 0.32 1.10 0.35 (0.05)

(21.26) (0.32) (1.10) (0.35) (0.32)
- - - -

Closing Fair Value of Plan Assets - - -
167.49 - - - 8.95

- - - -
15.00 - - - -
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 (vi) 

Gratuity 
Funded

Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Unfunded

Pension 
Top-up 

Unfunded

Pension 
Director 

Unfunded

Pension 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
7.55% 7.55% 7.55% 7.55% 7.55%
7.30% 7.30% 7.30% 7.30% 7.30%

- -
4%-5% - 4.00% 10.00% -

- - - -
- - - 4.00% -
- - - -
- 6.00% - - -

NA NA
Table 1 Table 1 Table 1 NA NA

NA
NA Table 2 Table 2 Table 2 Table 2

 (vii) 

  a) Gratuity Funded

 Quoted  Unquoted  Total  %

Others

Total

 Quoted Unquoted  Total  %

Others

Total
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Gratuity Pension Top up

Discount 
rate

Salary 

rate

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Pension 
rate

(%) (%)

(5.51)

Post- Employment Medical Pension Director Unfunded

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Health care 
Cost

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Pension 
rate

Gratuity Pension Top up

Discount 
rate

Salary 

rate

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Pension 
rate

(%) (%)
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Post- Employment Medical Pension Director Unfunded

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Health 
care Cost

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Pension 
rate

(9.55)

 (x) Movement in Asset Ceiling

` crores ` crores

:

:

Gratuity Post Employment 

Unfunded

Pension Top-up 
Unfunded

Pension 
Director 

Unfunded
funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

27.78 0.28 0.98 0.62 0.45

69.11 1.49 2.52 4.29 1.93

214.52 13.87 2.16 36.71 12.98

6.91 10.57 11.26 10.05 8.21

 

.
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`

Maximum amount 
outstanding during 

the year

Balance 
Outstanding as on 

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Subsidiaries

Associates

` crores ` crores
Current Tax

111.19

Deferred Tax

7.67
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` crores ` crores

:

Others

` crores ` crores
Current Tax

 -
Deferred tax

 

 -
 -

 Others  -
 Total income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
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` crores ` crores

Net Deferred Tax Liability

Opening 
Balance

Recognised in 
the state-

and loss

Recognised 
in other com-

prehensive 
income

MAT credit Closing 
Balance

 

Others
Total Deferred Tax Liability

Opening 
Balance

Recognised 
in the state-

and loss

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income

MAT credit Closing 
Balance

 -
 77.65

Others
Total Deferred Tax Liability  (7.66)
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Name of the Company

 ii. Subsidiary Companies

Name of the Company

1

1

1

1

Name of the Company
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Name of the Company

 iv.  Associates

Name of the Company

 v. Key Management Personnel

  

Company 
having 

Key 
Management 

Personnel
Subsidiaries Associates #

Ventures#

Post 

plans
` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

- -
2.34 - 1.14 1.37 1.75 -

- -
0.12 - 11.99 1.24 0.64 -

- - - -
8.78 - - 0.05 - -

- - - - -
- - 0.32 - - -

- -
- - 44. 20 26.90 29.75 -

- -
55.65 - 19.47 0.48 0.16 -
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Company 
having 

Key 
Management 

Personnel
Subsidiaries Associates #

Ventures#

Post 

plans
` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

- -
17.77 - 2.55 - 0.61 -

- - -
- - 6.05 3.03 5.23 -

- -
0.12 - 2.80 0.88 0.53 -

- -

0.12 - 9.38 5.28 2.70 -
- -

0.42 - 22.11 14.91 17.09 -
- - - - -
- - - - - 24.78

- - -

22.00 - 17.00 7.50 - -
- - - -

13.06 - - 32.75 15.68 -
- - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -
- - 991.14 - 10.00 -
- - - - - -
- - 135.19 - - -
- - - - -
- - 167.93 - - -
- - - - -
- 13.18 - - - -

- - - -

- - 977.93 - 17.61 -

- -
2.57 - 11.43 8.61 35.75 -

- -
6.08 - 1.92 0.07 0.05 -

- -
0.35 - 81.09 1.75 (5.30) -

- - - -
0.39 - - 0.35 0.60 -

- -
31.56 - 55.41 4.54 7.33 -

- - - -
- - 4.02 - - -
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Company 
having 

Key 
Management 

Personnel
Subsidiaries Associates #

Ventures#

Post 

plans
` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

- - - - -
71.10 - - - - -

-
- - -

- - 175.68 - 244.61 -

 

Name of the Company
` crores ` crores

Tata Sons Ltd.

Tata Consultancy Services Ltd.

Taj Air Ltd.

Tata Realty and Infrastructure Ltd.

Tata AIG General Insurance Company Ltd.

Tata SIA Airlines Ltd.
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Name of the Company
` crores ` crores

KTC Hotels Ltd.

Benares Hotels Ltd.

Piem Hotels Ltd.

1.11

United Overseas Holdings Inc.

IHOCO BV
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Name of the Company
` crores ` crores

1.99

Taj GVK Hotels & Resorts Ltd.
(11.91)

Taj Karnataka Hotels & Resorts Ltd.

Taj Safaris Ltd.

TAL Hotels & Resorts Limited

1.91

IHMS Hotels (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd.

` `

Taida Trading & Industries Ltd.

Oriental Hotels Ltd.



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2018

50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

187  

Name of the Company
` crores ` crores

Revenue from Hotel Services by Non-current assets  
(see footnote below)

Country
 

` crores
 

` crores
 

` crores
 

` crores

Total

 

 
` crores

 
` crores

` crores)

Weighted average number of Equity Shares

`)

`) 1 1



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2018

188  Annual Report 2017-18

` ` ` `

a. Subsidiary Companies

 Principal 
place of 

business/ 
Country of 

Held directly 
by Parent or 
through its 

subsidiaries (%)
Holding

(%)

 

Principal 
place of 

business/ 
Country of 

Held directly 
by Parent or 
through its 

subsidiaries (%)
Holding

(%)
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b. 

 

Principal place 
of business/ 
Country of 

Held directly 
by Parent or 
through its 
subsidiaries 

(%)

Holding

(%)
 

 

c. Associates

Principal place 
of business/ 
Country of 

Held directly 
by Parent or 
through its 
subsidiaries 

(%)

Holding

(%)
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`

`

`

` `

For B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran
 

Puneet Chhatwal

Deepak Parekh

Giridhar Sanjeevi

Beejal Desai
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Capital Accounts
Year Share Reserves and Borrowings Gross Block Net Block Investments

Capital Surplus
` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

+

!! 119.95 11.19

!!!

æ
=

¶
¶
`

§

±

¥

`

`

`

` `
`

`



192  Annual Report 2017-18

Revenue accounts
Year Gross Expenditure Tax Other Total Net Dividend Rate of

Revenue (including before Expenses Comprehensive Comprehensive Transfer Dividend
Interest) Taxes Tax Income Income to General on 

Ordinary
Reserves Shares

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores  %
â
â
â
â
â
â
â
â

5.11 1.59
1.59

5.55

159.11 9.11 1.55

19.55

155.55

`

`
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Report on the Audit of Consolidated Ind AS Financial 
Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Ind AS 
Financial Statements 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in the 

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the 

Opinion

Independent Auditor’s Report
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statements have been audited by the predecessor 

`
`
`

 
`

the Management and our opinion on the consolidated 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

 

companies and joint ventures incorporated in India and 
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incorporated in India during the year ended March 

B S R & Co. LLP 
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Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility

is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 

Annexure ‘A’ to the Independent Auditor’s Report
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Opinion
B S R & Co. LLP 
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Note
` crores ` crores

Assets

5 
Intangible assets under development

6 

 Investments

Current assets
Inventories

 Investments

Total

Equity

 
Total equity

Provisions

Provisions

22 

Total

 B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran

Deepak Parekh

Partner

Beejal Desai

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
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Note
` crores ` crores

Income

Total income

Expenses

25 
26 

27 
Total expenses

Tax expense

 Total tax expense

through other comprehensive income

 259.52 

 259.52 

`
`

 B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran

Deepak Parekh

Partner

Beejal Desai



200  Annual Report 2017-18

A.
 Eq

ui
ty

 
Sh

ar
e 

Ca
pi

ta
l

B.
 O

th
er

 E
qu

ity

Eq
ui

ty
 

Sh
ar

e 
Ca

pi
ta

l 
Su

bs
cr

ib
ed

in
co

m
e

To
ta

l 
O

th
er

  
Eq

ui
ty

Eq
ui

ty
 

th
e 

co
m

pa
ny

N
on

 
Co

nt
ro

lli
ng

 
In

te
re

st
s

To
ta

l 
Eq

ui
ty

Ca
pi

ta
l 

Ca
pi

ta
l 

Pr
em

iu
m

 
A

cc
ou

nt

G
en

er
al

 
O

th
er

 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

 
Eq

ui
ty

 
In

st
ru

m
en

ts
 

th
ro

ug
h 

O
th

er
 

In
co

m
e

Ex
ch

an
ge

 

st
at

em
en

t 
of

 fo
re

ig
n 

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

` 
cr

or
es

 2
95

.9
6 

 2
59

.5
2 

su
bs

id
ia

rie
s

 B
 S

 R
 &

 C
o.

 L
LP

N
. C

ha
nd

ra
se

ka
ra

n

D
ee

pa
k 

Pa
re

kh

Pa
rt

ne
r

Be
ej

al
 D

es
ai

Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f C
ha

ng
es

 in
 E

qu
ity

 



50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

201  

` crores ` crores

 

Interest Income 

Inventories  

Short term loan realised
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` crores ` crores

 95.72 

 B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran

Deepak Parekh

Partner

Beejal Desai
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the parent and its subsidiaries line by line adding 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
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may mean that amounts previously recognised in 

interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced 

associates and joint ventures is included in the 

subsidiaries is restated at the rate prevailing at 
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occur or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

to the complexities involved in the valuation and 

 Recognition of deferred tax liability on undistributed 
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eligible customers to earn points based on their spending 

 Interest

calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 

payable during the year are recognised as 
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gains and losses are recognised immediately in 

gains and losses are recognised immediately 

based on an independent external actuarial 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 

employees are entitled to accumulate leave 
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compensated absences based on an independent 

the asset to the location and condition necessary 

carrying amount is greater that its estimated 

Class of Assets

to leasehold buildings are depreciated on the basis 
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Class of Asset

intended use are carried as intangible assets under 

Class of Assets

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

`

are carried at historical cost and denominated in a 

currency are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 

are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the 
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the lease unless the payments are structured to increase 

 Finance Lease

 Current tax

subsidiaries and its associates and joint ventures operate 

 Deferred tax
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be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 

tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

amount recognised as a provision and the indicated 

  Interest income earned on temporary investment 
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 a. Financial assets
  

  

   i. 

   ii.  Financial assets at Fair Value through 

   iii.  Financial assets at Fair Value through 

or loss on such debt instrument that is 

as interest income is recognised in the 

the investment in joint ventures and associates 
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investments are recognised in the Statement 

  

  

  

  Subsequent measurement

  

  

hedging instrument are accounted through Statement 

  Equity instruments
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carrying values and the only adjustments that are made 

 

applying this standard recognised as an adjustment to 
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Freehold 
land 

Buildings Plant and 
machinery

Furniture 
equipment

Vehicles Total

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
Cost

 

 

 259.20 

 

 95.92  2.55 
 

Net Block

 259.20 

` `

`  
` ` ` `  
` ` `

` `

 
` ` `
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` crores ` crores

 565.52  555.56 

` `
and ` `

` `

Leasehold 
property rights

 

Website 

cost
licences

 
 

rights

Total

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
Cost

 52.92 

 9.02 
Net Block

 579.75 
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Face
Value Holdings

As at ` crores As at ` crores

 

`

`

`

`

`

`

Zar 1
US $ 1

`

 

`

`

US $ 1
 

`
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Face 
Value

Holdings
As at ` crores As at ` crores

`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
` 333 333
`
`

`
 `

`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
`
` 1
` 1

`

`

(
` `
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` crores ` crores

` `

` crores ` crores

 Loans 

` crores ` crores

 29.76 

 Others
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` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores

 0.56 
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` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores

 Prepaid expenses

 Prepaid expenses
 Indirect tax recoverable
 Advances to suppliers

` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores

 272.06 

 25.66 
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` crores ` crores

 

` crores ` crores

Margin money deposits

 

`

`

` crores ` crores

Authorised share capital

` 1 each

 200.00  200.00 

Issued share capital

` 1 each

Subscribed and paid up

`  
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`

` `

` `

No. of shares ` crores ` crores

 

No. of shares % of Holding 

`

 

No. of shares % of Holding 

`
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` crores ` crores

 Retained Earnings

 comprehensive income

 Total

`
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` crores ` crores

 Debentures

 Term loans

  From Banks

  Others

 Total

 

 

 Loans repayable on demand

  From Bank

   Unsecured 

 5.00  7.00 

 5.00 
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Rate of 
Interest 

 Maturity Face 
cost 

 
value cost 

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Debentures 

 Secured

 Unsecured

Term loan from banks 

 Secured

 Unsecured

Secured

Others

` `

` `

` `
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` `

` `

 
`

` `

`

`

`

` `

`

`

` `

`

` ` `
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`

`

`

` ` `

`

` ` `

`

` crores ` crores

Net debt

Grand Total

`
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 Liquid Assets Total

Cash 
and cash 

Current  Gross 
Debt 

 Net Debt Interest 
accrued  

 

interest

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Interest expense  2.90 

Interest paid

` crores ` crores

Accrued expenses and others

` crores ` crores
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` crores ` crores

 Other payables

 Deposits from others

  Unsecured

 Unclaimed dividends
 Unclaimed matured deposits and interest accrued thereon
 Unclaimed matured debentures and interest accrued thereon ̀ `

 605.27 

` crores ` crores

 75.56 
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` crores ` crores

Opening Balance
` crores ` crores ` crores

Closing Balance
` crores

 0.02 

 Total 

` crores ` crores
Current
 Income received in advance

 Statutory dues

` crores ` crores

Shop rentals

Total
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` crores ` crores

Total

derecognised during the previous year `

` crores ` crores

Payment to contractors

Total

` crores ` crores
Interest expense

cost

Total
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` crores ` crores

 Total

 Insurance 

 Passage and travelling

 Support services

 Total

` crores ` crores
As auditors

` `
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` crores ` crores

`

`

Total

` crores ` crores

Property and Water tax

Service tax



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for year ended March 31, 2018

50-120 121-268Statutory ReportsCorporate Overview 01-49 Financial Statements

235  

`

`

` `

`
`
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` `

` `

Country of  by the Group controlling interests

India
India
India
India

India

India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India

Singapore

Island
United 

United 

United States 
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Summarised Balance 
Sheet

PIEM Hotels Limited
Limited

ELEL Hotels and 
Limited

` crores

March 

` crores

March

` crores

March

` crores

March 

` crores ` crores

March

` crores

March

` crores

Net Current Assets

297.97

Net Assets 259.62

Accumulated NCI

Summarised Statement 

PIEM Hotels Limited
Limited

ELEL Hotels and  
Hotel Limited

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

Income

Income
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Summarised Statement 

PIEM Hotels Limited
Limited

ELEL Hotels and  
Hotel Limited

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

March 

` crores

in Cash & cash 

 
` Crores

 
`

Country of  
Holding 

Carrying amount

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

India
India

India

India
India
India
India

  
 
Associates

India
India
India

Singapore

267.00
Total
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` Crores `

 

Summarised  
Balance Sheet

Taj GVK Hotels & 
 Resorts Limited

Taj SATS  
Air Catering Limited

TAL Hotels and  
Resorts Limited

Oriental Hotels  
Limited

 

` crores

March 31 

` crores

 

` crores

March 31 

` crores

 

` crores

March 31 

` crores

 

` crores

March 31 

` crores

Current assets

Total assets

75.77 55.20

27.92

Net assets
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Taj GVK Hotels & 
 Resorts Limited

Taj SATS  
Air Catering Limited

TAL Hotels and  
Resorts Limited

Oriental Hotels  
Limited

` crores

March 31

` crores

March 31

` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores

Carrying Amount

Summarised statement

Taj GVK Hotels & 
Resorts Limited

Taj SATS  
Air Catering Limited

TAL Hotels and
 Resorts Limited

Oriental Hotels 
Limited

` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores

Interest Income

Income for the year

 
` Crores

 
` 

 
` Crores

 
`
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FVTPL FVOCI

` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores

Total

Not measured at fair 

 

Total

Not measured at fair 

Total

` `
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Total

` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores ` crores

March 31

` crores

Total

    

debentures

Total
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Equity instruments
` crores
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Financing arrangements 

` crores ` crores

Total

Due in  

` crores

Due in 
2nd year
` crores

to 5th year
` crores

5th year
` crores

Total

` crores
     

99.27 55.07

Total 55.07

5.59

55.07
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Capital Risk Management

Note
` crores ` crores

Net debt

Foreign Currency risk

`

Nature of 
Currency Currency million

` crores ` crores

US$

US$

Total
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Currency

Interest rate risk

` `

Other market price risks

`
decrease by `

` crores ` crores

` crores ` crores
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` crores ` crores

 Current Tax   

 

 Deferred Tax   

  

 

 Total tax expense recognised in the current year 

` crores ` crores

 

  Income considered to be capital in nature under tax and tax provisions

 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for year ened March 31, 2018

248  Annual Report 2017-18

` crores ` crores

 Current Tax   

   

 Deferred tax   

  

 

  

` crores ` crores

 Net Deferred Tax Liability
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Opening 
Balance

Recognised 
in the 

Statement 

Loss

Recognised 
in Other 

Income

MAT credit Exchange Closing 
balance

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
    

Assets

27.90

contracts

62.56

Total Deferred Tax Liability 5.22

 ` `
` `

` `
` `
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` `

` crores ` crores

Total 25.59
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Plans EIN 
Number

Plan 
Number Zone Status

Implemented
Company for the year 

ended

December 
 

December 
 

Green

 NA

 NA

Boston LLC

NA

 NA

US $
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` crores ` crores

Plan Assets as at period end

` `
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 b. Interest risk

 d. Salary risk

Gratuity Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Pension Pension 
Director 

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

2.75

9.70

Amount not recognised due to asset limit

2.75

Gratuity Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Pension Pension 
Director 

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

0.27

Total 5.96 0.05
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Gratuity Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Pension Pension 
Director 

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
Remeasurements due to actuarial  

0.06

Actual return on plan assets less interest 
on plan assets

asset ceiling

Total
9.02 0.75

Gratuity Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Pension Pension 
Director 

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
5.55

0.27

0.06

2.75
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Gratuity Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Pension Pension 
Director 

Pension 
 

Funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Interest on Plan Assets 

Actual return on plan assets less interest 
on plan assets

0.97

Closing Fair Value of Plan Assets 
9.70

next year

Gratuity Post 
Employment 

Medical 
 

Pension Pension 
Director 

Pension 

Funded

7.55% 7.55% 7.55% 7.55%

6.00%

*

NA NA

NA Table 2 Table 2 Table 2 Table 2
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Quoted
` crores ` crores

 Total
` crores  % ` crores ` crores ` crores

22.02
Total

  

Quoted
` crores ` crores

 Total
` crores  % ` crores ` crores ` crores

5.26

Total 9.60 9.70

 
 

Gratuity Pension Top up

Discount 
rate

Salary 

rate
rate

Salary 

rate

Discount 
rate

Salary 

rate
rate

Salary 

rate

expectancy 1 year 
decrease

expectancy 1 year 
Increase

Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Pension 
rate rate

Pension 
rate
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Discount 
rate

Life 
Expectancy

Health 
care Cost rate

 

Discount 
rate

Life  
Expectancy

Pension 
rate rate

Pension 
rate

 
` crores ` crores
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Gratuity Post 
Employment 

Medical 

Pension  Pension 
Director 

Pension  
 

funded

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Within one year 0.60

2.20

9.57 7.69

`

     

  

Key Management Personnel 
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Company Key 
Management 

Personnel

Associates and 

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores

Interest expense 0.67

Interest income 0.97

0.07

0.27

0.70

0.02 6.97

9.77

20.00
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Company Key 
Management 

Personnel

Associates and 

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores
5.69

55.76

5.00

0.09

Company Name
` crores ` crores 

Tata Sons Limited

Tata SIA Airlines Limited

Tata AIG General Insurance Company Limited

Tata Realty and Infrastructure Limited
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Company Name
` crores ` crores 

Taj Air Limited
 Interest income

Associates
Oriental Hotels Ltd.

Taida Trading & Industries Ltd.
 Interest income
 Interest receivable

Bjets Pte Limited, Singapore

Lanka Island Resorts Ltd.

Taj GVK Hotels & Resorts Ltd.

Taj Karnataka Hotels & Resorts Ltd.
 Interest income

Taj Kerala Hotels & Resorts Ltd.

Taj SATS Air Catering Ltd.
 Interest expense
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Company Name
` crores ` crores 

Taj Safaris Ltd.
 Interest income

TAL Hotels & Resorts Ltd.

 Interest income

 

`

Country

` crores ` crores ` crores ` crores 

India

Total
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of the Group

Net assets, i.e., total assets Share in other Share in total 

As % of 
consolidated  

net assets ` crores

As % of 
consolidated 

` crores

As % of 
consolidated 

` crores

As % of 
consolidated 

` crores
Parent

Subsidiaries
Indian 

  Sheena Investments 

Foreign

in all subsidiaries



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for year ened March 31, 2018

264  Annual Report 2017-18

 
of the Group

Net assets, i.e., total assets Share in other Share in total 

As % of 
consolidated  

net assets ` crores

As % of 
consolidated 

` crores

As % of 
consolidated 

` crores

As % of 
consolidated 

` crores

Indian 

 

Foreign

Indian 

Foreign

Total

Footnotes
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`

`

` 1 1

`

`

`

` `

 B S R & Co. LLP N. Chandrasekaran

Deepak Parekh

Partner

Beejal Desai
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NOTICE is hereby given that the HUNDRED AND 
SEVENTEENTH (117th) ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of THE 
INDIAN HOTELS COMPANY LIMITED will be held on Thursday, 
July 19, 2018, at 3.00 p.m. at the Birla Matushri Sabhagar, 
19, Sir Vithaldas Thackersey Marg, Mumbai 400 020, to 
transact the following business:

1.  To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Standalone 

year ended March 31, 2018, together with the Reports 
of the Board of Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2.  To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Consolidated 

year ended March 31, 2018, together with the Report of 
the Auditors thereon.

year ended March 31, 2018.

4.  To appoint a Director in place of Mr. N. Chandrasekaran 

  Mr. Puneet Chhatwal (DIN: 07624616) 
who was appointed by the Board of Directors as an 

of the Companies Act, 2013, (‘the Act’) but who is eligible 
for appointment, and in respect of whom the Company 

the Act from a Member proposing his candidature for 

”

 

  pursuant to the provisions of 

provisions, if any, read together with Schedule V of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) and the Companies 

and subject to the approval of the Central Government 

prescribed or imposed by the Central Government while 

the Company hereby approves the appointment of 
Mr. Puneet Chhatwal (DIN : 07624616) as the Managing 

during the tenure of his appointment) with liberty to 
the Board of Directors to alter and vary the terms and 

may be agreed to between the Board of Directors and 
Mr. Chhatwal; 

 any of  the Directors of the 
Company or Mr. Beejal Desai, Senior Vice President – 
Legal & Company Secretary, be and are hereby authorized 

and things as may be necessary, proper, expedient or 
”

No. 7 passed at the 115th

Company held on August 23, 2016 and in accordance 

such other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (‘the Act’), read with Schedule V of the Act 

of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, including any 

other approvals, if any, that may be required, the 
Company hereby approves of:

 

1, 2018, for the remainder of the tenure of his 
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appointment i.e. upto May 22, 2018 (as per 
Governance Guidelines adopted by the Board), 
by way of an increase in the maximum amount 

to be paid in the event of loss or inadequacy of 

his appointment), as set out in the Explanatory 

salary within such maximum amount, increasing 

quantum of Basic Salary; 

   revision in the Performance Linked Bonus payable 

set out in the Explanatory Statement annexed to 

 any of  the Directors 
of the Company or Mr. Beejal Desai, Senior Vice 
President – Legal & Company Secretary, be and 
are hereby authorized severally to do all such 

necessary, proper, expedient or incidental for giving 
”

42, 62, 71 and other applicable provisions, if any, of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (including any statutory 

in force) and the Companies (Prospectus and Allotment 

Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014, both as amended 

referred to as the ‘Board’, which term shall be deemed 

exercise its powers, including the powers conferred 

bonds (NCDs) on private placement basis, in one or 

exceeding ` 500 crores (Rupees Five Hundred Crores) 

with or incidental thereto and that such borrowing is 
within the overall borrowing limits of the Company;

   

considered by the Board to be in the best interest of the 
Company.”

material facts in respect of the business under Item Nos. 

('AGM') is annexed hereto.

2.  A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE 
AGM IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A PROXY TO ATTEND AND 

NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. A person 
can act as proxy on behalf of Members not exceeding 50 
and holding in the aggregate not more than ten percent 

rights. A Member holding more than ten percent of 

rights may appoint a single person as proxy and such 
person shall not act as a proxy for any other person or 

less than 48 hours before the commencement of the 

slips, enclosed herewith, duly completed and signed, 

Folio No. Corporate Members intending to send their 

their behalf at the AGM.

4.  The Register of Members and the Share Transfer 
Books of the Company will remain closed from Friday, 
July 13, 2018 to Thursday, July 19, 2018, both days inclusive, 
for payment of dividend, if approved at the AGM.
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6.  The Dividend on Equity Shares, as recommended by 
the Board of Directors, if approved at the AGM, will be 

names appear on the Company’s Register of Members 

transfers in respect of transfer requests lodged with 
the Company on or before Thursday, July 12, 2018. As 
regards shares held in electronic form, the dividend will 

(‘NSDL’) and the Central Depository Services (India) 
Limited (‘CDSL’) as at the close of business hours on 
Thursday, July 12, 2018.

  Members are requested to note that, dividends if not 

the date of transfer to Unpaid Dividend Account of the 
Company, are liable to be transferred to the IEPF. The 
shares in respect of such unclaimed dividend are also 
liable to be transferred to the Demat Account of the 
IEPF Authority. In view of this, Members are requested 
to claim their dividends from the Company, within the 

Dividends are lying unclaimed against their name 

requested to immediately claim the unclaimed dividend 
amount due. In case the dividends are not claimed by 

Company to transfer such shares to IEPF in the prescribed 
manner.

 
have been transferred to IEPF, may claim the same by 

www.iepf.gov.in. Members 

year as per the IEPF Rules. For details, please refer to 
Corporate Governance Report which is a part of this 
Annual Report.

8.  Members holding shares in electronic form may please 

Depositories to the Company will be considered for 

of the Depositories and the Company will not entertain 

any, already given by them in respect of shares held in 

the dividend paid on shares held in electronic form. 

bank accounts in which they wish to receive dividend 

mandated the submission of Permanent Account 

market. Members holding shares in electronic form are 
therefore, requested to submit their PAN to their DPs 
with whom they are maintaining their dematerialized 
accounts. Members holding shares in physical form can 
submit their PAN details to the Company along with the 
proof thereof.

10.  Members holding shares in physical form are requested 
to advise any change of address and are also requested to 

Bank immediately to the Company. Members holding 
shares electronically in dematerialized form must advice 

respect of the shares held by them. Members holding 
shares in single name and who have not yet registered 

holding shares in physical form are requested to submit 
the forms to the Company. Members holding shares in 
dematerialised form are requested to submit their forms 
to their DPs.

12.  Members holding shares in physical form are requested 

form to eliminate risks associated with physical shares 

  The format of the Register of Members prescribed by 



272  Annual Report 2017-18

including their PAN details, email address, bank details 
for payment of dividend, etc. A form for capturing the 

Report. Members holding shares in physical form are 

Members holding shares in electronic form are required 

of the names as per the Register of Members of the 

15.  Members are requested to kindly bring their copies of 
the Annual Report to the AGM. As per the requirement 

Members whose email addresses are registered with the 

has requested for a physical copy of the same. For 
Members who have not registered their email addresses, 

registered their email addresses are required to register 

will also be available on the Company’s website viz. 
www.tajhotels.com.

working days, except Saturdays, during business hours 
up to the date of the AGM and also at the venue of the 
AGM.

Act, Rule 20 of the Companies (Management and 

the Company is pleased to provide its Members the 

proposed to be considered at the AGM by electronic 

electronically from a place other than the venue of 

system  or poll papers shall also be made available 
at the AGM. Members holding shares as on 

 

right at the AGM.

 iii.  The Members who have cast their vote by remote 
 
 

vote again.

 
July 16, 2018 (9:00 a.m. IST) and ends on Wednesday, 
July 18, 2018 (5:00 p.m. IST). During this period, 
Members of the Company, holding shares either in 
physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the 

the Member, the Member shall not be allowed to 
change it subsequently. 

   

   

internet web browser by typing the following URL: 
 either on a Personal 

Computer or on a mobile.

 
click on the icon ‘Login’ which is available under 

3.  A new screen will open. You will have to enter your User 

the screen.

 
 

vote electronically.
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4. Your User ID details are given below :

Manner of holding shares 
i.e. Demat (NSDL or CDSL) or 
Physical

 Your User ID is:

a)  For Members who 
hold shares in Demat 
Account with NSDL.

8 Character DP ID followed 
by 8 Digit Client ID
For example if your DP ID 
is IN300*** and Client ID is 
12****** then your user ID 
is IN300***12******

b)   For Members who 
hold shares in 
Demat Account 
with CDSL.

For example if your 

12************** 
then your user ID is 
12**************

c)   For Members 
holding shares in 
Physical Form.

EVEN Number followed by 
Folio Number registered with 
the Company
For example if Folio Number 
is 001*** and EVEN is 
101456 then user ID is 
101456001***

5. Your password details are given below:

your vote.

which was communicated to you. Once you retrieve 

password’ and the system will prompt you to 
change your password.

  (i)  If your email ID is registered in your Demat 

password’ is communicated to you on your 
email ID. Open the email sent to you by NSDL 

last 8 digits of client ID for CDSL account or 
Folio Number for shares held in physical form. 

password’ is communicated to you on your 
postal address.

holding shares in your Demat Account with NSDL or 
.

 b)  ‘Physica
 

.

 

your name and your registered address.

see all the companies’ ‘EVEN’ in which you are holding 

3. Select ‘EVEN’ of The Indian Hotels Company Limited.

for which you wish to cast your vote and click on ‘Submit’ 

will be displayed.

7.  You can also take the printout of the votes cast by you by 
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not be allowed to modify your vote.

 
duly authorized signatory(ies) who are authorized to 

 

2.  It is strongly recommended not to share your password 
with any other person and take utmost care to keep 

 

to key in the correct password. In such an event, 

3.  In case of any queries, you may refer the Frequently 

 

 
July 12, 2018. A person whose name is recorded in the 

5.  Any person, who acquires shares of the Company and 

obtain the login ID and password by sending a request to 

Secretary (Membership No. 8663) has been appointed as 

AGM in a fair and transparent manner.

in the employment of the Company and shall make, not 
later than two days from the conclusion of the AGM, a 

in favour or against, if any, to the Chairman or a person 

 
Report shall be placed on the Company’s website 
www.tajhotels.com and on the website of NSDL 

Company shall simultaneously forward the Results to 

Limited where the shares of the Company are listed. The 

for at least three days.

By Order of the Board of Directors

 
Senior Vice President – Legal and Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 25, 2018

Mandlik House, Mandlik Road, Mumbai 400 001. 
CIN: L74999MH1902PLC000183 
Tel.: 022 66395515 Fax: 022 22027442 
Email:  
Website: www.tajhotels.com 
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1.  The following Explanatory Statement sets out the 

Director of the Company w.e.f. November 6, 2017 under 

The Board also appointed Mr. Chhatwal as the 

November 6, 2017 upto November 5, 2022, subject to 
approval of the Members. Mr. Chhatwal will be based 
in India.

160(1) of the Act has been received from a Member 

appointment as a Director.

his Advanced Management Program from INSEAD at 
Fountainbleau, France and Singapore and also holds 

 
New Delhi.

5.  Mr. Chhatwal is a hospitality industry veteran, with an 
experience of over three decades. He was previously 

Steigenberger Hotels AG. 

almost 20 years. He was living in Europe for the past 28 

He is perceived as a recognised team builder focusing 

minority and sliver equity partnerships, joint ventures 

over 500 contracts in the last 25 years in Europe, Middle 

East, Africa and Asia. Mr. Chhatwal has launched and 

umbrella brand (B2B).

7.  In his association with Steigenberger Hotels AG, 
the group witnessed a growth of more than 50% in 
portfolio along with increased presence in gateway 
destinations. During Mr. Chhatwal’s tenure, the hotel 
was accredited amongst Germany’s Superbrands 
(among top 50 brands) and was the winner of 2016 
Grand Prix for the most progressive company at 
Worldwide Hospitality Awards in Paris besides being 
chosen as the Best Employer and Service Champion 
for five years in a row. 

and Vice President Development for The Rezidor Hotel 
Group where he was responsible for driving strategy 
and branding. Prior to this, Mr. Chhatwal also served the 
Feuring Group where he was involved in Feasibility Study 

Mövenpick, etc. Prior to this, he also worked with 
The Ashok Group of Hotels in India.

9.  The Company is one of the leading hotel groups in India 
with strategic presence in key global markets. In India, 

endeavours to grow from 2009 to 2015, however, 

 

and organised supply grew by merely 5.9% while overall 
demand increased by 9.6% in the same period. The 

increases in disposable incomes and the burgeoning 
middle class. India’s Travel & Tourism sector was also 
the fastest growing among the G20 countries, growing 
by 8.5% in 2016. 

10.  Given this environment, sustaining and growing market 

the Company. The Company is looking at various revenue 
enhancement and cost containment measures so that it 
can take advantage of the upswing in business as the 
economy recovers and the demand supply imbalance 
gets corrected.
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which include the United States, United Kingdom, 
South Africa, Zambia, Dubai, Maldives, Sri Lanka, Bhutan, 

investments that the Company has made in recent 
years in its overseas assets, the MD & CEO is expected 

across various hospitality formats and markets (including 
the experience of overseeing the Indian market) and 
ability to manage and build scale. The candidates 
were screened by the NRC which recommended 
Mr. Puneet Chhatwal to the Board.

13.  The Board is of the view that, with Mr. Chhatwal’s 
 

in his preceding employment. 

 
'Mr. Chhatwal' or 'MD & CEO'. The principal terms and 

CEO are as under:

 (i)  
November 6, 2017 upto November 5, 2022

 (ii) 

receive a severance package that comprises of 

in the Agreement executed between the Company 
and Mr. Chhatwal. 

  With cause: No amount would be payable.

 

 (iii)  The MD & CEO shall devote 

and separately communicated to him and exercise 
such powers as may be assigned to him, subject to 

of the business of the Company and the business of 

not exceed the powers so delegated by the Board as 
set out above. The MD & CEO undertakes to employ 
the best of his skill and ability and to make his utmost 
endeavours to promote the interests and welfare of 
the Company and to conform to and comply with 

directed by the Board.

  (iv) 

   Current Basic Salary of 
` 12.35 lakhs per month; upto a maximum of 
` 22 lakhs per month. The annual increments 
will be decided by the Board based on the 

Company’s performance as well, within the 
said maximum amount.

    

are as follows: 

(furnished or otherwise) with the Company 
bearing the cost of repairs, maintenance, 

electricity and water charges) for the said 

  (b)  Special Allowance at 85% of Basic Salary per 
annum.

incurred for self and family. 
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Rules of the Company. 

broadband, internet and mobile as per Rules 
of the Company. 

  (d)  Other perquisites and allowances given below 
subject to a maximum of 55% of salary per 
annum. This includes:

both subject to a cap of 5%.

Gratuity as per the Rules of the Company. 
 

payable as an allowance as per the Rules of 
the Company. 

terms of the Agreement entered into between 
the Company and Mr. Chhatwal.

 :

and Allowances, Mr. Chhatwal would be paid 

may be determined by the Board, as per the 
terms of the agreement currently costed at 
24 months basic salary and will be within the 

MD & CEO will be based on his performance 
as evaluated by the Board or the NRC and 
approved by the Board and will be payable 

approved by the Board and Members. 

   

200% of salary to be paid annually at the 

performance criteria and such other 
parameters as may be considered appropriate 

would be payable only when the Company 
cannot pay Commission. 

   

based on measurable improvement criteria set 
out by the Board as detailed in the Agreement 
entered into between the Company and 
Mr. Chhatwal. 

  Plan Period: Five years

 

  The plan is linked to 

  (a) EBITDA growth Year on Year, 

` crores), 

` crores) and 

   EBITDA growth has a weightage of 40% and 

weightage, with equal weightage to Turnover, PAT 
and Return on Equity. 

  

amount is linked to his Cost to Company (‘CTC’). 
rd of his total 
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rd is the target 

   As the current CTC is `
performance bonus target amount is ` 3.5 crores 
per annum1. 

   1The target amount will change, if there is any 
revision in the CTC. 

     Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 

year during the currency of the tenure of 

further approvals as required under Schedule 

 

by him. The table below provides a summary of the 

Hospitality Industry. 

(in US$)
25th 50th 75th 90th 

6,199,751 10,470,366 10,926,084 12,459,557

 

   

example, the 25th

appointment of Mr. Puneet Chhatwal as the MD & CEO 
are as under:

 (i)  Adherence with the Tata Code of Conduct, no 

Personnel Policies.

 (ii)  Mr. Chhatwal shall not become interested or 
otherwise concerned, directly or through his 

Company.

 (iii)  The employment may be terminated by the 

 A)  if the MD & CEO is found guilty of any gross 

any subsidiary or associated company to which he 
is required by the Agreement to render services; or

in the Agreement;  or

 C)  in the event, the Board expresses its loss of 

terminate his contract on such terms as the Board 
may consider appropriate in the circumstances.

employment under the Agreement:

held by him in any holding company, subsidiaries or 

connected with the Company. 

 B)  the MD & CEO shall not without the consent of 

as connected with the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries and associated companies.

 (vi)  If and when this Agreement expires or is terminated 
for any reason whatsoever, Mr. Chhatwal will 
cease to be the MD & CEO and also cease to be a 

& CEO ceases to be a Director of the Company for 
any reason whatsoever, he shall cease to be the 
MD & CEO and this Agreement shall forthwith 

to be in the employment of the Company for any 
reason whatsoever, he shall cease to be a Director 
and MD & CEO of the Company.
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 (vii)  The MD & CEO covenants with the Company that he 

with the Company, accept any other directorships 
in any company or body corporate without the prior 

 (viii)  The MD & CEO covenants with the Company that 
he will not, for a period of one year immediately 

been employed or engaged by the Company or any 

manner as may be agreed to between the Board 
and the MD & CEO, subject to such approvals as 
may be required. 

 
Mr. Chhatwal shall be recorded by way of a 
supplementary agreement which will form part of 
the Agreement.

16.  Mr. Puneet Chhatwal is not a resident of India and 

with Schedule V to the Act, in respect of the appointment 
of managerial personnel, the Company may appoint 
a person who is not a resident of India (i.e. in variance 

the said appointment has been approved at the General 

read with Schedule V to the Act, the appointment and 

placed before the Members for their approval.

18.  The NRC and the Board have accorded their approvals to 
the above and in the interest of the Company commend 

the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel (‘KMP’) of 

 

20.  Mr. Puneet Chhatwal is not related to any other Director 
or KMP of the Company. 

21.  At the AGM of the Company held on August 23, 
2016, the Members of the Company had approved 

 

upto him reaching the age of 65 years i.e. May 22, 2018 

, which 

  Basic Salary of ` 5,00,000 per month, with Annual 
st April each year as 

decided by the Board and recommended by the 

Performance Linked Bonus subject to maximum of 
227.5% of the Annual Basic Salary payable subject 
to the achievement of certain performance criteria 
and such other parameters a may be considered 

22.  The Members may note that the Board had at their 

payable to Mr. Kapadia to ` 5,00,000 per month for the 

Salary approved by the Members, any future revisions 
beyond ̀  5,00,000 per month would require the approval 
of the Board and Members.

23.  Considering Mr. Kapadia’s longstanding commitment 

in the Basic Salary of Mr. Kapadia from ` 5,00,000 per 
month to ` 6,00,000 per month from April 1, 2018, 
for the remainder of the tenure of his appointment 

payment of ` 2,00,00,000 as Performance Linked Bonus 

approval of the Members. 

24.  Accordingly, approval of the Members is sought for 
revision in the Basic Salary Scale of Mr. Kapadia from 



280  Annual Report 2017-18

a maximum of ` 5,00,000 per month to ` 6,00,000 

Performance Linked Bonus to ` 2,00,00,000; all other 

of Mr. Kapadia as approved by the Members of the 

unchanged. 

25.  Consequently, the Agreement between the Company 
 

 
valid and in force.

as aforesaid shall be within the maximum limits as laid 

provisions, if any, of the Act read with Schedule V to the 

annexure to the Board’s Report and in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

198 and other applicable provisions of the Act, read with 

before the Members for their approval. 

other Directors, Key Managerial Personnel ('KMP') or 

31.  Mr. Kapadia is not related to any Director or KMP of the 
Company.

on a private placement basis, is required to obtain the 

prior approval of the Members by way of a Special 

during the year.

33.  The borrowing limit was approved by the Members on 
 

` 5,000 crores. As on March 31, 2018, the total debt of 
the Company is ` 1,784 crores. The Company proposes 
to seek approval of the Members to raise NCDs of up to 
`

purposes.

34.  The approval of the Members is being sought by way 

the Act read with the PAS Rules and the Companies 
(Share Capital & Debentures) Rules, 2014, to enable the 

private placement basis, in one or more tranches, during 
the period of one year from the date of passing of the 

limits of the Company, as approved by the Members.

the Company.

36.  None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel of 

By Order of the Board of Directors

 

Senior Vice President – Legal and Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 25, 2018

Mandlik House, Mandlik Road, Mumbai 400 001. 
CIN: L74999MH1902PLC000183 
Tel.: 022 66395515 Fax: 022 22027442 
Email:  
Website: www.tajhotels.com
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54 54 
June 02, 1963 April 16, 1964 
January 27, 2017 November 6, 2017 
Mr. Chandrasekaran is the Chairman of the Board of Tata Sons 

companies, including Tata Steel Limited, Tata Motors Limited, Tata 
Power Limited, Tata Global Beverages Limited and Tata Consultancy 

his leadership, TCS generated total revenues of US $16.5 billion in 

employer in India and the country’s most valuable company. TCS 
has also been placed among the “Big 4” most valuable IT services 

Companies by Forbes and recognized as a Global Top Employer by 

also appointed as a Director on the Board of India’s central bank, 
The Reserve Bank of India, in 2016. He has been appointed on 

Development Board in 2018 and is also the Chairman of Indian 

including USA, UK, Australia and Japan and has served as the 

His business leadership has been recognized by several corporate 

awards such as The Business Leader of the Year at the ET Awards 

 
Mr. Chandrasekaran has also been awarded several honorary 

Mr. Chhatwal is presently the Managing Director and 

Limited. He is a global professional with over three 

hotel groups in Europe and North America.

Steigenberger Hotels AG – Deutsche Hospitality. He was 

Group – Carlson Hotels Worldwide. 

Carlson Fellowship and was rated as one of Europe’s 20 

NIL NIL 

6 2 (for part of the year only)
  

MD & CEO with the Company

Governance Report

Report Governance Report
None None
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Route Map to the AGM Venue

Venue: Birla Matushri Sabhagar, 19, Sir Vithaldas Thackersey Marg, Mumbai 400020

Landmark: Next to Bombay Hospital (H)

Distance from Churchgate Station: 1 km

Distance from Chhatrapati Shivaji Terminus: 1.2 km

Distance from Marine Lines Station: 0.8 km
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The f  igures are aggregated for Tata companies for the f inancial year ended 31. 03.2017.ed fo

695,699
EMPLOYEES

150
YEARS

150+

COUNTRIES

600
MILLION+

CONSUMERS

`

656,973
CRORE

REVENUE

3.98
MILLION

SHAREHOLDERS

`

27,346
CRORE
PROFIT

AFTER TAX

66%
OF PARENT COMPANY 

TATA SONS’ EQUITY 
SHARE CAPITAL HELD BY 

PHILANTHROPIC
 TRUSTS

              In a free enterprise,              

          the community is not just another

   stakeholder in business, but is in fact    

                        the very purpose of its existence.

  - Jamsetji Tata

L E A D E R S H I P  W I T H  T R U S T

S I N C E  1 8 6 8

tata150.com

Picture (left to right): The four partners - Jamsetji Tata, Founder of the Tata Group; R. D. Tata, father of J. R. D. Tata; 

Sir Ratan Tata,  younger son of the Founder; and Sir Dorabji Tata, elder son of the Founder.

From pioneering businesses, to pioneering welfare practices, 

to pioneering national institutions, 

the Tata Group remains committed to improving the lives of communities

we serve globally, based on leadership with trust.
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